Workforce race inequalities and inclusion in NHS providers

Shilpa Ross Joni Jabbal Kiran Chauhan David Maguire Mandip Randhawa Siham Dahir

July 2020



There is definitely one rule and tolerance for one group and one for another. This is made worse by the close relationships between very senior managers who appoint their own former staff or friends to roles, or managers who work together for a while. BME [Black and minority ethnic] staff without strong professional representation (in particular BME non-clinical managers) are vulnerable and unsupported... [My experience is] Realising that no matter how hard I worked, people I train will be promoted above me or given opportunities that the organisation denies me. When [I challenge this], I am dismissed, gas-lighted or the implication is that I'm making trouble.

I came into nursing as a mature woman in my late 30s... I heard reports of patients refusing to allow Black nurses [to] look after them. I reported this to the nurse recruiter for bank [staff] at my hospital. She felt this was perfectly in order. If the patient didn't want a Black nurse, let them have a white one.

As a female ethnic minority in the NHS, I feel that I encounter situations every day that remind me I am different and that I have to overcome people's perceptions of me. As a clinical member of staff, this varied from not asking how to pronounce my name to assumptions about my upbringing. In my current role, it is about not seeing anyone like myself in senior positions. The biggest negative impact was being told I was the 'diversity' recruit early in my career. The biggest positive impact is being part of the BAME [Black, Asian and minority ethnic] network and not feeling alone.

(Responses from three interview participants)















Contents

	Foreword	5
	List of abbreviations	8
	Key messages	9
1	Introduction	12
	Why does race equality matter?	13
	Lived experiences of ethnic minority staff in the NHS	14
	Our research	16
	Structure of the report	18
	Definitions	19
2	Background: workforce race inequalities in the NHS	21
	What is the NHS doing to address race inequalities in its workforce?	21
	Resources and support to address workforce race inequalities	
	in the NHS	23
3		23 27
3	in the NHS	
3	in the NHS The case studies	27

Contents













	What would race equality and inclusion 'success' look and feel like?	36
4	Interventions to make it safer to talk about race	39
	Staff networks	39
	Psychologically safe routes for raising concerns	44
5	Interventions to enable development and career progression	47
	Development programmes	48
	Addressing organisational obstacles to career progression	50
	Key learning points about development and career progression	52
6	The importance of leadership and allyship	53
	The impact of diverse leadership	53
	The importance of allies	54
	Board leadership and distributed models of leadership	55
	Leaders 'holding' the tensions around race equality and inclusion	56
	Support for leaders working on race equality	57
	Key learning points about leadership and allyship	58
7	How did race equality and inclusion change in the case studies?	59
	What was it like before the introduction of race equality and inclusion interventions?	59

Contents

















	What impact have race equality and inclusion interventions had on staff at an individual level?	60
	The 'ripple effect' of race equality and inclusion interventions	63
	Key learning points about how race equality and inclusion changed	64
8	Key lessons and questions to consider	65
	There are no magic solutions to an age-old issue	65
	Approaches to race equality and inclusion are not 'one size fits all'	66
	Addressing race equality and inclusion in organisations can make a difference – with a sustained commitment, over time	67
	What next?	68
	Appendix 1: Methodology	69
	Appendix 2: The nine Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) indicators	73
	Appendix 3: Getting our own house in order	75
	References	77
	Acknowledgements	83
	About the authors	84

4 Contents



















Foreword

I cannot be an optimist, but I am a prisoner of hope Professor Cornel West

The NHS was founded more than 70 years ago, is the UK's largest employer and is one of the biggest employers globally. The NHS Constitution for England (Department of Health and Social Care 2015) states that 'high-quality care requires high-quality workplaces' and makes a pledge to provide 'a positive working environment' to staff in addition to the legal right that 'you are treated fairly, equally and free from discrimination'.

Research for this report commenced in 2019, but since then the impact of the Covid-19 crisis in the UK has replicated existing health inequalities, and a report by Public Health England on disparities in the risk and outcomes of Covid-19 shows that death rates from Covid-19 have been highest among ethnic minority groups. As I sat to write this foreword, we had just witnessed the shocking murder of George Floyd, the protests in the UK and around the world, and the efforts of the Black Lives Matter movement which once again underline the injustice, discrimination and racism faced by Black people in society.

It was in 1968 that the Race Relations Act extended the prohibition of discrimination 'on the ground of colour, race, ethnic or national origin' to the fields of employment. Presenting the Bill to Parliament, the Home Secretary, Jim Callaghan, said, 'The House has rarely faced an issue of greater social significance for our country and our children.'

Yet, 51 years on, the NHS Staff Survey in England (NHS England 2020b), which has been running since 2013, shows that people from ethnic minority groups face continued discrimination and higher levels of bullying, harassment or abuse from other staff compared with white staff. The key finding relating to equality, diversity and inclusion shows a decline since 2015. NHS staff are also subjected to racism by patients and other members of the public during their work with predictable consequences for their health and wellbeing.

Foreword 5



















When you read the personal stories in this report, remember that we are directly harming people by not addressing race inequalities in the NHS to create safe, inclusive work cultures. There are physiological, psychological and behavioural consequences for people and their families from the chronic stress caused by racism and discrimination.

To be clear about the UK law on race relations, it imposes a positive duty on institutions to pre-empt unlawful discrimination before it occurs. This means the NHS should not just deal with racism when it occurs but be pro-active in preventing it happening in the first place. So, if the moral case is clear and the legal position has been clear for decades, what more is needed?

Our report and so very many that precede it demonstrate the importance of leadership to achieve equality, diversity and inclusion so this needs to be core business for boards and senior leadership teams. Leaders must act on this at every level of the health service including learning how to listen better to staff and their experiences. This requires personal action from every manager and supervisor of staff whatever their grade or role in the service. The cultural change required will not be quick and as our case studies demonstrate, it will not be easy. At The King's Fund, we recognise that we have much to learn and a long way to go to becoming a more diverse and inclusive organisation. We are committed to tackling inequalities through the work we do and by using our voice to encourage change within the health and care system.

So, will this report tell you anything new? Many of our findings will be of no surprise, but we hope they help to illustrate the reality and complexity of culture change, to challenge and inspire you to go further in your workplace. Looking at the workforce data and the progress against the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) is important, but it is only part of the story. What matters fundamentally is the lived experience of staff in their everyday work. We wanted to learn more about the experience of ethnic minority staff working in the NHS, the stories behind the data, and to understand what some NHS organisations were doing to make better progress in addressing inequalities and inclusion in everyday work. In each of the case studies – from Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust, Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust and East London NHS Foundation Trust – you will learn about the different ways these organisations are tackling race inequalities,

Foreword 6



















as well as some of the actions they are all taking including the introduction of staff networks and enabling better staff development and career progression.

I would have described myself as an optimist, but reading Professor Cornel West's work, I now realise it's hope that I was talking about. As leaders we must be prisoners of hope but turn that desire for improved outcomes into real action. We must therefore ask ourselves some searching questions on race inequality: Will we commit to continue to reflect on our own role and complicity in systemic racism? Will we commit to learning and doing better on race inequality? Will we accept that we will fall short and but will learn from our mistakes when we do? Will we truly commit to being ceaseless in our pursuit of inclusivity in our workplaces?

As Professor Don Berwick says, "Some is not a number and soon is not a time so in renewing individual and organisational commitments to address race inequalities we will also need to get specific about what we are going to do, by how much and by when. We cannot continue to damage the lives of ethnic minority people in the workplace, we must act now and stay on the long road to lasting change.

Suzie Bailey

Director of Leadership and Organisational Development The King's Fund

Foreword 7

















List of abbreviations

BAME Black, Asian and minority ethnic

BAPIO British Association of Physicians of Indian Origin

BDCFT Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust

BLFI Building Leadership for Inclusion

BME Black and minority ethnic

CHFT Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust

EDC Equality and Diversity Council

EDI Equality, diversity and inclusion

EDS Equality Delivery System

EDS2 Equality Delivery System 2

ELFT East London NHS Foundation Trust

FTSUG Freedom to Speak Up Guardian

GMC General Medical Council

IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

LGBT Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender

NHS National Health Service

UK United Kingdom

WDES Workforce Disability Equality Standard

WRES Workforce Race Equality Standard

List of abbreviations 8



















Key messages

- The National Health Service (NHS) has one of the most ethnically diverse workforces in the public sector (Race Disparity Unit 2019). However, year after year, ethnic minority staff report worse experiences in terms of their lives and careers, when compared with white staff (WRES Implementation Team 2020). For example, ethnic minority staff are more likely to report bullying, harassment and abuse from patients and colleagues; and they are more likely to enter into the formal disciplinary process.
- People from an ethnic minority background are also under-represented in senior positions in the NHS. According to analysis carried out by the WRES Implementation Team (2020) (WRES stands for Workforce Race Equality Standard):
 - 29.0 per cent of ethnic minority staff report that they have experienced bullying, harassment or abuse from other staff in the past 12 months, compared with 24.2 per cent of white staff
 - 15.3 per cent of ethnic minority staff report experiencing discrimination at work from a manager, team leader or other colleague more than double the proportion of white staff reporting discrimination (6.4 per cent)
 - 69.9 per cent of ethnic minority staff report that they believe their trust (employer) provides equal opportunities for career progression or promotion, compared with 86.3 per cent of white staff
 - people from an ethnic minority background make up only 8.4 per cent of boards in NHS trusts across England.
- Addressing race inequalities in the NHS workforce is critical on multiple levels. First, as we outline in this report, experiences of discrimination can cast a long shadow on ethnic minority NHS staff; the impact on people can be profound. There are also wider implications for the health service. At a basic level, inequalities are incongruous with the values upon which the NHS was founded. In addition, evidence shows that fair treatment of staff is linked to a better experience of care for patients (West et al 2011). Moreover, the NHS is in the midst of a workforce crisis and improving its performance on diversity and inclusion will play an important role in the NHS becoming a better place to work and build a career (Beech et al 2019).

Key messages 9



















- This report explores workforce race inequalities and inclusion in NHS providers. There is a considerable amount of quantitative data on this issue but a relative lack of independent qualitative research about the issue in different types of NHS organisations. In this report we discuss how three NHS provider organisations have sought to address workforce race inequalities and develop positive and inclusive working environments. We have focused on the personal accounts and recollections of members of staff and on what ethnic minority staff told us they have experienced in their working lives (see www.kingsfund.org.uk/nhs-stories). This helped us to understand the reality and complexity of culture change.
- Perhaps unsurprisingly, what we learnt was that the three case studies were still in the foothills of addressing race inequalities and making the working environment more inclusive; progress against the key metrics on race equality in the three case studies has been slow as with the wider NHS. There were no quick solutions and therefore the three case studies were thinking strategically and preparing for the 'long haul' because change of this nature and at scale cannot happen overnight. We found that everyone has a role to play in an organisation's race equality and inclusion effort through leadership, participation or 'allyship'.
- The case studies used different approaches to make it safer to talk about race, for example staff networks that could benefit both ethnic minority and white staff. In addition, leadership or career development programmes targeted at ethnic minority staff aiming to be promoted to more senior positions were popular. We discuss some of the advantages and disadvantages of the approaches and offer numerous points for consideration for other organisations that are working towards addressing workforce race inequalities and inclusion.
- We found reasons to be hopeful about the potential for culture change in the NHS; members of staff in the case studies were able to point to some signs of progress even if that progress did not show up in the national dataset on workforce race inequalities. This highlights the importance of looking for a range of data, including the lived experience of staff, so that you know whether or not you are heading in the right direction.

Key messages 10

















- Although each organisation's approach to addressing race inequalities and inclusion will be defined and designed locally depending on the circumstances, the case studies offer some key learning points for the rest of the sector to consider.
 - There are no magic solutions to an age-old issue. The work is not straightforward (for example, there can be resistance to change among members of staff) and there can be unintended consequences to implementing initiatives, which must be kept in mind.
 - Approaches to race equality and inclusion are not 'one size fits all'.
 There is a lack of proven interventions and it is down to individuals and organisations making a concerted effort at a local level to iterate the approach that 'works' for them.
 - Addressing inequalities and inclusion needs to be an ongoing, 'momentby-moment' activity that engages with and responds to people's lived experiences.

Key messages 11

















Introduction

The NHS has one of the most ethnically diverse workforces in the public sector (Race Disparity Unit 2019). Of the 1.2 million NHS staff whose ethnicity is known, 79 per cent are white (including white ethnic minorities) and 21 per cent are from all other ethnic groups. Across individual NHS trusts in England, the proportion of ethnic minority staff employed varies from 1.2 to 62 per cent. The London region has the most diverse NHS workforce (44.9 per cent of NHS trust staff are from an ethnic minority background) compared with the South West region, which is the least diverse (9.3 per cent). Ethnic minority staff are over-represented in the NHS Agenda for Change pay band 5 (including, but not limited to, nursing and administrative roles, as well as some clinical roles) and significantly under-represented above band 8a, which includes very senior managers (that is, chief executives, executive directors and other senior managers with board-level responsibility who report directly to the chief executive). In other words, as the pay bands increase, the proportion of ethnic minority staff within those bands decreases, from 24.5 per cent at band 5 to 6.5 per cent at very senior manager level (WRES Implementation Team 2020). Thus, it is possible for someone to be very much in a minority in their situation within a diverse whole.

For many years, white and ethnic minority staff have reported significantly different experiences in terms of their lives and careers in the NHS (Hughes *et al* 1984). There is no shortage of high-profile national data to illustrate these different experiences (West *et al* 2015; Kline 2014, 2013). Compared with their white colleagues, ethnic minority staff are more likely to report bullying, harassment and abuse from patients and colleagues; they are more likely to enter into the formal disciplinary process; and they are less likely to be employed in senior positions. Key metrics from the most recent analysis of national data on the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) in NHS trusts (WRES Implementation Team 2020) show that:

 29.0 per cent of ethnic minority staff have experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the past 12 months, compared with 24.2 per cent of white staff

















8



- 15.3 per cent of ethnic minority staff report experiencing discrimination at work from a manager, team leader or other colleague - more than double the proportion of white staff reporting discrimination (6.4 per cent)
- 69.9 per cent of ethnic minority staff believe their trust (employer) provides equal opportunities for career progression or promotion, compared with 86.3 per cent of white staff
- the relative likelihood of ethnic minority staff entering the formal disciplinary process compared with white staff is 1.22.

Even though the data is relatively well known, there is a fundamental question about why progress has been frustratingly slow in terms of addressing workforce race inequalities in NHS organisations. There are probably several reasons for this - particularly the fact that all types of culture change take time and addressing inequalities will require persistence and determination in the long term. A 'do-once' approach will be insufficient. Further, there is a lack of proven interventions to tackle race inequalities and it is down to individuals and organisations making a concerted effort at a local level to iterate the approach that 'works' for them.

Why does race equality matter?

Writing as a team of mostly ethnic minority researchers, it is a strange thing to spell out what is, for us, quite obvious. There are multiple reasons to address race inequalities in the NHS workforce; there are both moral and practical arguments. And to be more blunt about it, being on the receiving end of racist behaviour or institutionally racist policies is hurtful and can have long-term damaging effects (The Synergi Collaborative Centre 2018; Williams and Mohammed 2013; Williams 1999).

The NHS is founded upon the principle of fairness, providing access to health care on the basis of need, 'irrespective of gender, race, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion, belief, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity or marital or civil partnership status' (Department of Health and Social Care 2015). The NHS Constitution for England makes clear that every person (patients, families, carers and staff) is valued and everyone counts (Department of Health and Social Care 2015). If these fundamental principles are not reasons enough to treat all people equally,



















research shows that poor morale and engagement among NHS staff have an impact on the quality of patient care (Dawson 2018; West et al 2011). This suggests that tackling equality and inclusion issues for staff will benefit patients too; it should improve patient care and help the NHS, at least in part, to address its workforce crisis (Beech et al 2019). The NHS plays a vital role in enabling social justice both as an employer and as a public service.

Lived experiences of ethnic minority staff in the NHS

As outlined above, there is data showing that ethnic minority staff are more likely than white staff to report having negative experiences at work. However, our review of the evidence showed that there are relatively few studies that have focused qualitatively on exploring the experiences of ethnic minority staff in the NHS. One study of ethnic minority nurses' views (Pendleton 2017) highlighted negative experiences, such as:

- barriers to career progression for example, being denied career development opportunities and receiving inadequate feedback about why progression has not occurred
- a lack of respect from more junior staff
- being ignored by more senior staff or excluded from networks of 'power'
- being more likely than white nurses to be reprimanded or punished.

Another study about doctors' experiences of being referred to the General Medical Council (GMC) for fitness-to-practice concerns suggests that some managers avoid having difficult feedback conversations with doctors from a different ethnic background to themselves, and there are 'in groups' and 'out groups' in medicine relating to ethnicity and qualifications (by country – and within the United Kingdom by medical school) (Atewologun et al 2019).

Our own research about the lived experiences of ethnic minority people working in the NHS offers insights into how bias, inequalities and discrimination are perceived and experienced (see www.kingsfund.org.uk/nhs-stories).



















Ethnic minority staff in the NHS describe their lived experiences

In a short survey that was sent out via our network of contacts and on Twitter, we asked ethnic minority staff working in any role in the NHS: How would you describe your lived experience of being an ethnic minority (or 'BAME') person in the NHS?

We received 173 responses, including the following examples, and based on their responses we invited 20 people to take part in an in-depth interview and 12 of them agreed:

I see no one like myself in this organisation. I moved here from London and this company is [the] most 'culturaly ignorant' [sic] environment [I] have worked in. I hear racist, racially insensitive comments all the time, sometimes with actual malice in mind, but mostly because out here there are no BAME [Black, Asian and minority ethnic] people so there is no awareness of us as people, only what they see on TV and in the news.

Being a BAME person in the NHS have [sic] many challenges with limited job opportunities to progress to junior/senior management. The biggest impact on me is the feeling of been [sic] silenced and not good enough to lead/manage a team regardless of one's knowledge or experience or qualification. It's a feeling that my only value is to service others with no job opportunities.

I am an immigrant which makes it very difficult to integrate with the general UK/NHS working culture. While NHS managers are talking about E&D [equality and diversity], they do not provide further support for us and often when we are [a] victim of bullying, managers are either ignoring it or dealing with it as if race and culture is [sic] not part of the problem.

(Responses from three interview participants)

All this said, addressing race inequalities in workplaces is by no means an easy undertaking. Race equality initiatives require leaders and staff to move beyond their comfort zones, confront painful truths and have open discussions about race and racism. To be clearer, the truth hurts because it means having to understand and accept that the NHS as an employer has fallen short of the values set out in its Constitution and elsewhere and because many NHS leaders (as most people) see themselves as 'good' people, working to support equity. This tension between aspiration and reality will be uncomfortable.



















Successful race equality initiatives require organisation leaders to make clear that race equality is a high priority (following up with investment where needed) and multiple strategies will be needed at 'organisational, workplace, interpersonal and intrapersonal levels used simultaneously and over time' (Priest *et al* 2015).

Our research

The King's Fund has undertaken a research study of workforce race inequalities and inclusion in NHS providers. As mentioned previously, we as authors have a vested interest in this issue.

We felt there was an opportunity for us to add value to existing research and we have done this in two ways.

First, we have undertaken in-depth interviews with 12 NHS staff to gain a detailed understanding of what discrimination looks and feels like in health care settings and what impact it has on individuals, teams and organisations. Hearing people's lived experiences has given us valuable *qualitative* insight and individual stories that might be overlooked when thinking about inequalities through metrics or best-practice guides (*see* the quotes on inside front cover and page 15 for examples).

The lived-experience interviews we conducted brought home the depth and strength of feeling about how ethnic minority people experience inequalities in different NHS work environments. These powerful first-person accounts can be found on our website (*see www.kingsfund.org.uk/nhs-stories*). This information adds greater depth and meaning to the quantitative information obtained from the NHS Staff Survey and research on the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES, discussed in section 2) in NHS trusts, and greater insight into the impact of inequalities.

Second, through three case studies we have sought to identify NHS provider organisations that have made continued improvements in terms of workforce race inequalities and to explore how they have gone about doing so (see Appendix 1 for more information on our methodology). Instead of looking at individual improvement initiatives or pockets of good practice, we have looked at the totality of the actions these organisations are taking to reduce race inequalities. And we have explored the practical issues these organisations have encountered over years of improvement efforts, and how they have sought to overcome these challenges.



















It is important to note that we did not set out to evaluate any of the techniques or interventions used in the case studies. This was partly because our research is exploratory; we had little prior knowledge about what the case studies were doing to address race inequalities. Moreover, given the long history of race inequality, if there were simple solutions, we think NHS provider organisations would have found them by now. Noticing this made us think about what more there might be to learn about the complexity and everyday dilemmas of working to reduce race inequality. And seeing a deeply entangled relationship between individual experience and the perpetuation of structural inequality, led us to start with the perspectives of a sample of organisations and people who have been involved in the race equality and inclusion activity or have observed it happening.

The issues and experiences described in this report are therefore necessarily local and are unlikely to show up in exactly the same way in other NHS organisations. In so far as these experiences reflect wider social patterns – locally, nationally and globally – we think that exploring commonalities and points of difference, what seems to be working along with the unintended consequences of actions to reduce inequalities, helps to expose some of the reality of what on paper may seem to be simple interventions.

In this report, we try to go beyond the good-practice recommendations and summary metrics that have started to become the mainstay of debate around race inequalities in the NHS. We asked our participants to be candid in their accounts of efforts to reduce race inequalities in NHS organisations so that we could explore aspects of this work that are rarely discussed. We have tried to be candid in sharing what we have learnt too, so that others can benefit from understanding the complexity of work in this area.

We hope that, as a result, organisational leaders in the NHS will have more to think about in relation to working towards greater race equality. We also hope that people throughout organisations will read this report and feel more hopeful about the possibility of fairer workplaces.

We hope this report will therefore help readers in NHS organisations to see or anticipate more of what might happen as they design or implement their own local approaches to creating fairer workplaces, drawing on the experiences of



















others. We encourage readers to engage with the examples and analyses presented with curiosity, and ask themselves: How might this be true where I work, and what difference might that make to the approach we are taking, or could take?

We also encourage readers to think about how they are responding to this report – with excitement, frustration or anything else – and ask themselves: How is my reaction part of the way I think and feel about race inequality in general, and how might this be helping or hindering us in our work?

More than anything, we want this report to provoke conversations about the structural and personal aspects of race inequality, and to serve as the starting point for organisations' own deeper explorations of how they are thinking about it and working on it.

Structure of the report

In section 2, we discuss the background and context in terms of workforce race inequalities in the NHS. In section 3, we present information about the three case study organisations, including what prompted them to act and what they are hoping to achieve. Sections 4 and 5 focus on the practical steps taken to address race inequalities and inclusion, what has enabled or impeded progress and reflections from the people involved in the development of workforce culture. Section 6 explores the importance of leadership and allyship in sustaining race equality and inclusion initiatives. Section 7 examines what has changed in the three case studies as a result of their interventions. Finally, section 8 brings together key learning points and considerations about the reality of addressing race inequalities.

It is important for us to reflect the voices of NHS staff in this report and we have included numerous quotations to illustrate the detail and nuances of their lived experiences in terms of race inequalities. We have not attributed the majority of quotes to individuals in this report as we did not want them to be identifiable. For those quotes that are attributed to an individual, that person has given their permission for us to do so.

















Definitions

Language is an important 'carrier' of bias and prejudice. Therefore, conversations about equality, diversity and inclusion can be challenging and awkward – not least because there are many ways to describe the same or similar things, where some phrases are considered correct and others as causing offence (intentionally or unintentionally). *See* the box below for how we have defined key terms and concepts in this report.

Our definitions of key terms and concepts

'Ethnicity' is a complex, multi-layered and changing concept. Typically, an 'ethnic group' refers to a group of people who identify with each other through common heritage, language and culture (which can include religion). In our research, we are referring to the 18 ethnic groups that the UK government has recommended (Institute of Race Relations undated; Race Disparity Unit undated).

Who we are talking about in this report: **ethnic minority groups**, that is, people belonging to ethnic groups that are in the minority in the context of the population of England. In our analysis of the national WRES data (*see* our methodology in Appendix 1), we have used the same classification of 'white' as the UK government (Race Disparity Unit undated). In our research, our case study sites, in their use of ethnic categories, generally followed the WRES guidance on defining 'Black and minority ethnic' and 'white' (based on the Office for National Statistics 2011, cited by NHS England 2018a, p 18).

There are some strong views against using the terms 'Black, Asian and minority ethnic' ('BAME') and 'Black and minority ethnic' ('BME') as general, catch-all terms for groups that are culturally and ethnically distinct (Saeed et al 2019).

All three case studies commonly used the terms 'BAME' and 'BME' (for example the 'BAME network' or 'the leadership development course for BME staff'). However, we have decided against using them and will instead refer to ethnic minority people in recognition of the fact that experiences will vary between Black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups.

continued on next page

















Our definitions of key terms and concepts continued

We make no judgement about the widespread use of 'BAME' or 'BME' and we do not want our choice to detract from the more important issue at hand; essentially, we are talking about groups of people whose ethnicity is more likely to be a factor in experiencing discrimination at work and undoubtedly in other aspects of life as well (McGregor-Smith 2017; Stevenson and Rao 2014).

The terms 'diversity' and 'inclusion' are sometimes used to mean the same thing, but we see a key difference between them. Diversity is a description about differences of background, thought and experience, and there can be no question that the NHS has an ethnically diverse workforce. Inclusion is much more subjective, and has been defined in various ways. We see it as relating to the 'commitment to treat everyone with equal respect and significance' (West et al 2015) and therefore key to making the most of a diverse workforce. In other words: 'Diversity is being invited to the party. Inclusion is being asked to dance' (Myers, undated, cited in Sherbin and Rashid 2017).



















2 Background: workforce race inequalities in the NHS

In this section we present some background information about how workforce race inequalities in the NHS are currently being addressed. We also discuss some of the initiatives that have been introduced to try to bring about change.

What is the NHS doing to address race inequalities in its workforce?

Throughout history there have been many shock moments when it comes to race equalities and race relations. These moments have galvanised national policy-makers into action. This includes legislation – such as the Equality Act 2010 and the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 – to provide legal protection from discrimination in the workplace and wider society.

More specifically to the NHS, there have been a number of policy initiatives to raise awareness of inequalities of experience, and to share good practice to reduce these inequalities. For example, the Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) was launched in 2013 to help local NHS organisations review and improve their performance in terms of people with characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010 (NHS England undated). Also since 2013, NHS England has set up the NHS Equality and Diversity Council (EDC), which is now co-chaired by Sir Simon Stevens. The purpose of the council is to 'drive whole system equality improvement' (NHS Equality and Diversity Council 2019a).

The most recent high-profile policy initiative for driving race equality is the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). The WRES, introduced in 2015, mandates the collection of key indicators that cover different aspects of equality, diversity and inclusion in the NHS (see Appendix 2 for more details on these indicators). The WRES has given the issue of workforce race inequalities a national focus and visibility (Dawson et al 2019) and allows for greater scrutiny of how the NHS is performing on race equality over time. The national WRES Implementation

















Team and very senior leaders in NHS England and NHS Improvement have also made a concerted effort to embed the use of WRES data in local organisations, to focus attention and catalyse action. NHS England and NHS Improvement have also committed to monitoring their own performance on race equality (NHS Equality and Diversity Council 2019b). In March 2020, Sir Simon Stevens announced that NHS England and NHS Improvement would be committing to a target of 19 per cent representation of ethnic minority employees at every pay band within the joint organisation by 2025 to reflect the make-up of the wider NHS, where 19.7 per cent of NHS trust and commissioning staff are from an ethnic minority background (NHS England 2020a; WRES Implementation Team 2020).

The WRES has drawn attention to the race equality agenda in a way that the NHS is used to thinking about organisational performance and may therefore be a helpful catalyst for action: NHS organisations are very used to measuring how well they are doing against various standards and targets, which has been shown to play a role in improving certain aspects of performance within the NHS (The King's Fund undated). Over time there has been a degree of improvement in some of the WRES indicators – such as the relative likelihood of ethnic minority staff entering the formal disciplinary process compared with white staff (Coghill 2020; WRES Implementation Team 2020, 2019). However, significant cultural challenges remain in ensuring ethnic minority staff have equal access to career development opportunities and increasing the diversity of people employed in the most senior bands in the NHS (WRES Implementation Team 2020).

A recent evaluation of the WRES showed that the impact of its work (including changes in the metrics) on ethnic minority staff depended on how well trusts had been engaging with the race equality agenda before the standard was introduced (Dawson et al 2019). Thus, it is questionable how well the annual reporting of WRES data alone prompts reflection about the root causes of inequalities and how to make the experience of work more equal between all groups.

Considering the wider historical, sociological, political, economic and cultural factors involved in the race agenda, we think it is local action in response to WRES metrics and other data on the experiences of race inequality that become important. As we will describe in later sections, such action needs to take account of local history and context as well as good-practice guidance and support.

















Resources and support to address workforce race inequalities in the NHS

Before we take a look at specific interventions in the NHS, it is worth noting that the research indicates there are five key enablers for addressing race inequalities in NHS and non-NHS settings (Darling and the WRES Implementation Team 2017). These provide helpful pointers in terms of laying the foundations for race equality initiatives at a local level:

- clarity around the rationale for change
- accountability and responsibility
- senior leadership support and advocacy
- good-quality data
- clear and consistent communications.

In terms of practical actions or interventions, our review of the existing evidence shows that there have been a low number of formal or independent evaluations of initiatives in the NHS. The lack of evidence on impact and effectiveness is a source of frustration to NHS employees tasked with making changes in their organisations (Dawson *et al* 2019).

Understandably, most good-practice guidance comes directly from NHS England and NHS Improvement around implementing staff networks, setting targets for representation at senior levels and reducing referrals to formal disciplinary processes when informal interventions might be sufficient (NHS England 2019a, 2019b, 2017; NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019; Warmington 2018). Other resources available to NHS organisations are listed below (most of which are specific to addressing race inequalities):

- the WRES experts programme, which aims to develop 'in-house' expertise to improve workforce race equality (see www.england.nhs.uk/publication/workforcerace-equality-standard-wres-experts-programme-cohort-one-biographies)
- the NHS Employers diversity and inclusion partners programme, which aims to embed equality and diversity in NHS organisations (see www.nhsemployers.org/ retention-and-staff-experience/diversity-and-inclusion/partners-programme)



















- leadership development programmes for ethnic minority staff in the NHS
 aspiring to progress to more senior roles (for example, 'Stepping Up' and 'Ready
 Now' run by the NHS Leadership Academy see www.leadershipacademy.nhs.uk/
 programmes/the-stepping-up-programme and www.leadershipacademy.nhs.uk/
 programmes/the-ready-now-programme respectively)
- the 'Building Leadership for Inclusion' (BLFI) programme led by the NHS Leadership Academy, which aims to accelerate and strengthen NHS capacity for inclusive leadership development, among other things (see www.leadership academy.nhs.uk/resources/inclusion-equality-and-diversity/blfi-2)
- an independent taskforce launched in February 2020 by the NHS Confederation to support NHS organisations to increase non-executive diversity on their boards and governing bodies
- various independent consultancies offering support on recruiting for diversity and implementing equality, diversity and inclusion interventions.

As with all interventions, the applicability of these resources to local contexts will vary, and there has been no attempt at formal evaluation that would help to establish the contexts in which they may be more or less helpful. At the least, they provide ideas that organisations can consider in thinking about how they can go about working on race equality, appreciating that decisions about what to do need to take account of local circumstances.

There are some commonly used equality, diversity and inclusion 'interventions', such as staff networks, unconscious bias training and reverse mentoring (McGregor-Smith 2017), which we describe below. (We will look at the three case studies' experiences of using these interventions in later sections.)

The NHS has numerous equality-based **staff networks**. There are overarching ones encompassing multiple employers (for example, the British Association of Physicians of Indian Origin – or BAPIO – and the NHS Confederation's BME Leadership Network) and it is increasingly common for individual NHS commissioning and provider organisations to implement multiple in-house networks for staff belonging to ethnic minority groups or identifying as lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) or disabled (of course, an individual could identify as all three) (NHS England 2017).



















The purpose of staff networks is to bring employees together to share experiences, learning and development and ultimately to 'assert equity for their members' (NHS England 2017, p 7). For members, staff networks can help promote a sense of solidarity and create 'psychologically safe spaces' for discussing aspects of identity and issues related to equality, diversity and inclusion (Bolden et al 2019). For the wider organisation, staff networks can offer insight and challenge around inequalities and inclusion.

According to the findings of a survey that NHS England undertook, the key benefits of staff networks can be categorised as:

- a mechanism for raising 'voice' and employee engagement
- a pipeline of talent and potential future leaders
- a way to foster empathy and collaboration among staff
- a way to foster innovation.

The same survey shows that implementing a staff network is not always a smooth process, for example where some staff reject the idea that such a thing is necessary or feel that staff networks are a form of segregation (NHS England 2017). Network approaches can risk being a tokenistic endeavour where groups act in isolation and lack the ability to influence wider change. Also, it can be argued that membership of a network and taking on actions to progress the race equality and inclusion agenda on behalf of the organisation is unpaid labour – particularly unfair for people who have been on the receiving end of discrimination or marginalisation in the first place (Bolden et al 2019).

Unconscious bias training has been introduced in the NHS and other organisations (The King's Fund included), but it can lead to mixed results (Bolden et al 2019; McGregor-Smith 2017). That is, the training can raise awareness of issues around equality and diversity (Atewologun et al 2018) but the approach relies heavily on individuals identifying and addressing their own biased behaviours and takes the focus and attention away from how well an organisation as a whole does or does not support a culture of openness and learning (Bolden et al 2019).

Another intervention focused on promoting race equality and inclusion at the individual level is **reverse mentoring**, which involves pairing a junior employee with

















a more senior one (ideally from different backgrounds) in a mutually developmental relationship. The aim is to redress power differences and address 'advantage blindness' among leaders through sharing lived experiences (Fuchs 2019). A few chief executives in the NHS have shared information on Twitter about their experience of being reverse mentored (for example, *see* https://twitter.com/BWCHBoss/status/1174738608714133506); however, we could not find any formal evaluations of the intervention in the NHS and the evidence of impact is mostly anecdotal. Despite this, the experience of senior leaders appears to have been a positive one. The benefits for the junior person in the pairing are less known.



















The case studies

As we set out in section 1 (Introduction) and in Appendix 1 (Methodology), there are no claims to overall excellence in the NHS with regards to workforce race equality and inclusion, and the chief executives at all three case studies in our research told us there is much further for their organisations to go. What the case studies can demonstrate is the lived reality of implementing measures to address race equality and inclusion issues. All three case studies implemented similar key interventions, which we describe in more detail in sections 4 and 5:

- staff networks
- psychologically safe routes for raising concerns
- enabling staff development and career progression.

In this section, we present profiles of the case studies, including the impetus for action and the 'measures' put into place.

In terms of 'drivers' for action, the three case studies have the following ones in common. How the drivers interact with certain barriers and enablers will be explored in later sections.

In all three case studies, individuals' beliefs and attitudes about race equality and inclusion motivated them to get involved in different ways, and champions were found at all levels taking a visible and hands-on approach. For some, there were moral reasons for taking action, such as wanting to promote equality and fairness for staff and patients, or seeing that happy and engaged staff are more likely to provide compassionate, person-centred care to patients. Some had personal experiences of discrimination or marginalisation that led them to get involved, while others wanted to act as allies to those who had these experiences. They also used different types of data, such as the WRES as well as focus groups or individual conversations with staff throughout the organisation.

As chair of the network, we took the lead on the harassment of staff by service users... this was before WRES... This was me taking on a situation which had been

















going on for quite a long time where a member of staff had been racially abused and the managers not knowing what to do, either dismissing it as banter, ignoring it, telling staff, 'Well, you're obsessional, just get on with it, it's part of your job'.

Just before we profile each case study, we would like to give an indication of what interview participants told us about the impact of experiencing discrimination at work and how such negative experiences can cast a long shadow. As we discussed earlier, the psychological and emotional impact of being discriminated against should not and cannot be underestimated. Often these negative experiences stick clearly in the minds of staff for many years and it can take many years of interventions to 'undo' and reverse them. Examples such as the following one provided part of the impetus for action.

An ethnic minority member of administrative staff told us how a senior manager had tried to block a professional development opportunity:

I completed my application [for a development programme] and gave it to [my manager's] colleague to sign it off and the comments that I got from her were quite belittling. She asked, 'What makes you think you're going from a band 4... to a band 7...?' Asking why I was going for this big jump, that I'm not experienced... Why would you do it? I'm thinking why wouldn't I? I want to make progress with my life. She [made me question my decision to apply for the programme] and was putting everything negative in my head. And, in the end, she turned around to me and she said, 'Well managers are not even on that, so what makes you think you can jump from a band 4 to a band 7 or 8?' So that bit got frustrating, so I turned around to her because by then I'd already started attending meetings with assistant directors. And as soon as I said that she looked stumped so she signed off my application. But prior to that she kept questioning [my decision to apply]... [telling me], 'Well [there are other] people in our organisation that deserve to be on this... programme that I'm thinking of putting through...' So as soon as I had the conversation with her I phoned [the programme provider] and I spoke to them and I said, 'I've been told that because I don't have a degree I can't go forward for [programme name]'. And she said, 'Don't believe anything they say, this is about you as an individual wanting to make progress with your life and move forward. And don't let anything... some of these things that are happening to you are some of the things that we're going to be addressing'.



















Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust

Profile of the trust

Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust (BDCFT) provides mental health services, community services, services for children and young people aged 0–19 years and learning disability services across Airedale, Bradford, Craven, Wakefield and Wharfedale. BDCFT employs approximately 3,100 people. According to the most recent data on the diversity of the workforce (July to December 2019), of those who stated their ethnicity, around 70.4 per cent were white British and 23.3 per cent were from ethnic minority groups (Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust undated). The highest proportion of ethnic minority staff were on Agenda for Change contracts, and the numbers employed in bands above 8c were relatively low. At board level, there were no executives from an ethnic minority background. Two of the six non-executive directors were from an ethnic minority background.

BDCFT is one of the small number of NHS providers we identified through our analysis of the WRES data in the 'equality of opportunity' grouping (see Table 1 in Appendix 1). Our initial discussion with the Director of Human Resources and Organisation Development revealed there had been efforts to drive more career progression for ethnic minority staff for some time, specifically the launch of a bespoke leadership development programme called 'Moving Forward' for staff in band 5 and 6 roles in 2015. Also, in 2014, the trust set a target to have 35 per cent of its workforce from an ethnic minority background. Leaders and other staff recognised the need for the make-up of the workforce to better reflect the diversity of the local population too. A more diverse workforce could work more effectively with local people to understand their health care needs as well as any barriers or issues in accessing services.

According to the Chief Executive of BDCFT (at the time of interviewing):

There are two aspects... One is our role as an employer and looking to ensure that our staff and governance processes are more representative of the communities that we work in... The second issue is that... there isn't an even distribution of the population across our, kind of, structures and hierarchy. So if you're a BAME [Black, Asian and minority ethnic] member of staff, you're more likely to be bands 1 to 4, or to be a medic. So it's quite extreme within our workforce profile [in terms of]















8



where you will find BAME members of staff... The other thing then from a service perspective here is that we need to ensure that our services are more appropriately focused on the needs of the specific community that we work in. [There is a] massive concentration of [ethnic minority groups] in [the] Bradford CCG [clinical commissioning group] area. And we know that health outcomes are poorer in those areas.

Key features of the trust's strategy

The strategic aims and vision for race equality and inclusion at BDCFT have emerged over time. In 2016, the trust's objectives were derived from the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS) process and spanned race, disability, age, sexual orientation and gender. An equality, diversity and inclusion workforce strategic reference group was launched in 2018, chaired by the Director of Human Resources and Organisation Development, to oversee the delivery of the three-year strategy, with the aim of being an outstanding organisation that recognises the 'direct link between outstanding care and good staff satisfaction and experience and equal opportunities' (source: internal BDCFT strategy document shared with the research team). The group uses data from the WRES, the Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES), the gender pay gap regulations and the Stonewall Unhealthy Attitudes survey (Somerville 2015) to inform its approach and to track progress. Objectives include:

- creating a diverse and inclusive culture for example, delivering 'Sharing Perspectives' workshops to teams to help people understand each other, drawing out insights about diversity and opening up conversations among staff
- reviewing and improving policies and procedures and introducing new ones for example, launching a policy on managing racial abuse from patients.

Looking forward, BDCFT is targeting schools with high numbers of ethnic minority pupils to talk to them about careers in health and care to encourage future applicants from a range of ethnic and socio-economic backgrounds. Also, BDCFT is part of the Bradford Health and Social Care Economic Partnership, which is engaging the local community with an aspiration to create 'One Workforce'. Part of this involves engaging local women from South Asian backgrounds who might

















not have been formally employed before to encourage them to apply for jobs in health and care.

For further information, contact:

Sandra Knight, Director of Human Resources and Organisation Development, sandra.knight@bdct.nhs.uk or Lisa Wright, Head of Equality and Diversity, lisa.wright@bdct.nhs.uk

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust

Profile of the trust

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust (CHFT) provides acute care from its two hospital sites in west Yorkshire. According to the most recent data, CHFT employs more than 6,000 people and 15 per cent are ethnic minority members of staff (Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust undated). Ethnic minority staff are employed in all non-clinical bands; however, very few are employed in clinical bands above 8a or in very senior manager roles, according to the most recent data available on the workforce. The highest proportion of ethnic minority staff are employed in 'other' medical roles, followed by 'career grade' medical roles. One executive director (the Chief Executive) and one non-executive director are from an ethnic minority background.

Dr Owen Williams OBE has been Chief Executive of CHFT since 2012 and he is one of a relatively small number of ethnic minority chief executives in the NHS. We were keen to understand how CHFT experienced this and it was a factor in our decision to include CHFT in our case study sample.

Key features of the trust's strategy

From our discussions with staff at CHFT, we understand that Owen has been credited as starting a frank dialogue about race inequalities in the workforce. Owen described those discussions as leading to a turning point:

I put together, with the help of a few other colleagues, about eight or nine focus groups of Black, Asian and minority ethnic colleagues here and they were... a slice of the organisation – clinical, non-clinical, consultant, cleaning colleague, porter, a

















real rich mix of colleagues... From these focus groups, a whole series of things came out... there were people carrying issues that dated back two decades about how they felt... And I think... that... was very important for people to feel that they had a space to share that. Then what we did is stood in the future: What's the result look like? What would 'good' look like? And then we... collated those together... And then we had a private board meeting... where we dedicated the session, the whole entirety of the board to two colleagues from the focus groups [who] came, they'd never been to the board meeting before... they wanted to own it, too... afterwards, they were in tears actually because it was quite a seminal moment for them and some of them had been carrying hurt and just the fact that this information was being listened to...

Those discussions led to a series of actions for board members and other staff, including setting up a staff network for ethnic minority staff in 2016 (referred to within CHFT as the 'BAME network'). Initially, Owen took on the chairing of the network, but he was keen for another colleague to take on the role – someone who could engage staff at different bands and in different roles to take forward actions. A category manager working in the procurement department volunteered and has held the position of network chair since then. Momentum continued to build around race equality and inclusion (and the wider equality, diversity and inclusion agenda) and, early in 2019, CHFT created a new dual role for an equality, diversity and inclusion manager and 'Freedom to Speak Up Guardian' (Freedom to Speak Up Guardians offer an independent and confidential alternative to raising concerns directly with line managers or supervisors and can 'escalate' any concerns to the appropriate person or department in the organisation). This has led to the development of a five-year equality, diversity and inclusion strategy, combining the trust's aims for race equality with its aims to make the trust more diverse and inclusive of all minority groups, so that ultimately the workforce reflects the local population it serves and is responsive to its needs.

As well as the ethnic minority network, CHFT has implemented various other initiatives in order to advance its equality, diversity and inclusion agenda:

 developing routes for staff to raise concerns – for example, 'Talk in Confidence' groups (linked to the Freedom to Speak Up function) and 'Ask Owen', which is a direct way for members of staff to ask the Chief Executive any question



















- encouraging colleagues from ethnic minority groups who are aspiring for leadership roles to take part in leadership programmes such as Stepping Up (run by the NHS Leadership Academy) or Moving Forward (run by neighbouring BDCFT)
- strengthening in-house training to include cultural awareness
- ensuring that 70 per cent of decision-makers have participated in the unconscious bias 'Stand in their Shoes' programme
- adopting a training programme for line managers about addressing bullying, harassment and abuse concerns
- introducing diverse interview panels for all posts above Agenda for Change pay band 6.

For further information, contact:

Nicola Hosty, Freedom to Speak Up Guardian and Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Manager, Nicola.Hosty@cht.nhs.uk

East London NHS Foundation Trust

Profile of the trust

East London NHS Foundation Trust (ELFT) provides mental health and community health services to people in Bedfordshire, the City of London, Hackney, Luton, Newham and Tower Hamlets. It also provides Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) services in Richmond in London. Currently, ELFT employs more than 5,500 people. Somewhat unusually compared with other NHS providers, ethnic minority staff at ELFT slightly outnumber white staff overall. However, similar to other NHS providers, there are relatively fewer ethnic minority staff in more senior clinical and non-clinical pay bands (7 and above).

ELFT is known for having a strong focus on culture and quality improvement (Ross and Naylor 2017). Dr Navina Evans CBE has been the Chief Executive at ELFT since 2016 and leads on work on making the NHS a better place to work – and, more specifically, work on implementing key commitments made in the NHS long term plan (NHS England 2019c) and the Interim NHS people plan (NHS Improvement 2019). In March 2020, Health Education England announced that Navina would join the organisation as its Chief Executive, making her the first



















woman from an ethnic minority background to take on such a role in a national health care body (Health Education England 2020).

In terms of workforce race issues, we were particularly interested in ELFT because it bucks the national trend in terms of having the highest number of executive and non-executive board members from an ethnic minority background in the NHS (eight at the time of writing, including the Chief Executive, Chief Nurse, Director of People and Culture and chair) (WRES Implementation Team 2019).

Therefore, a combination of all these factors influenced our decision to include ELFT in our case study sample.

Key features of the trust's strategy

Since 2017, ELFT has implemented five separate staff networks: one for staff from an ethnic minority background (called the 'BAME network'); one for staff identifying as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender; one for staff identifying as having a disability; one for female staff; and, late in 2019, an 'intergenerational' staff network. One or two members of staff lead each network. All the network leads are members of staff employed in different clinical and non-clinical roles. Each network has an executive sponsor and access to financial resources to support the running of the network, for example conferences, venue costs and paying for external speakers. Network leads have protected time (approximately one day a week) to focus on co-ordinating the network meetings and activities.

There is a multifaceted approach at ELFT to developing safe spaces in which members of staff are encouraged to raise concerns (for example, via the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian). Linked to this sense of safety is fostering a sense of mutual respect and understanding among staff. To address issues around staff experiencing bullying, harassment and abuse from patients, the public and other staff, ELFT launched an internal 'Respect and Dignity @ Work' campaign. This involved the trust hosting a pop-up exhibition run by the Empathy Museum called 'A Mile in My Shoes' as well as running a series of 'Through My Eyes' focus groups for staff to share their stories and foster empathy and personal connections. Stories have been shared at executive meetings and with the joint staff side committee, leading to executive pledges being made. Part of the project is to work with line managers in sessions called 'Through Someone Else's Eyes'.

















In 2018, the people and culture (formerly human resources) team undertook a quality improvement project to reduce the length of time taken to conclude disciplinary proceedings. By analysing the data through a 'deep dive', the team discovered a consistent pattern of Black nurses in pay band 5 or 6 with approximately three years of service being more likely to be disciplined than other staff (East London NHS Foundation Trust 2018). The trust has continued to review the data on staff entering the formal disciplinary process to draw out learning. It has implemented a 'Fair Treatment' process and this has reduced the number of suspensions. ELFT will continue to embed some learning for managers about fair treatment; appoint an investigator; recruit someone to a pastoral role to support staff going through human resources processes; and generally ensure there is an emphasis on compassion and safety for staff.

ELFT was also a pilot site to help co-design NHS Improvement's Culture and Leadership programme, in partnership with The King's Fund. Part of the purpose of this collaboration between ELFT, NHS Improvement and The King's Fund during the diagnostic phase was to gain a better understanding of the experiences of ethnic minority staff (NHS Improvement 2016b).

Numerous actions are directed at increasing race diversity in the workforce. For example, ELFT is focusing on how to increase the proportion of ethnic minority staff in senior positions and is undertaking succession planning for all executive director and clinical director roles to try to diversify the talent pipeline.

Finally, another key focus for ELFT is encouraging career development and progression. Staff are encouraged to participate in both in-house and external leadership development programmes and the trust has sent targeted communications to consultants in under-represented groups to invite them to apply for clinical excellence awards, following up with workshops to support with the completion of application forms. This activity saw a 4 per cent increase in clinical excellence awards awarded in 2018.

For further information, contact:

Tanya Carter, Director of People and Culture, Tanya.carter@nhs.net



















What would race equality and inclusion 'success' look and feel like?

One of the issues that may affect staff in organisations undertaking race equality and inclusion actions is knowing whether or not they are on the right track. We wanted to understand what 'success' looks and feels like within the case studies.

Interviewees were asked to reflect on the overall aims or vision for race equality and inclusion in their organisations. Some spoke about the quantifiable outcomes associated with the WRES they would like to see, including:

- a reduction in levels of bullying, harassment and abuse
- a reduction in the percentage of ethnic minority staff referred to the formal disciplinary process
- an increase in the representation of ethnic minority staff overall (including in leadership positions)
- an increase in the percentages of ethnic minority staff accessing non-mandatory training and continuous professional development.

There were also signs that the case study organisations were considering how to address deeply ingrained, systemic inequalities such as the gender pay gap (for example, ELFT was targeting female consultants to invite them to apply for clinical excellence awards and supporting them with the application) (Schlepper and Appleby 2018).

And I think... having some of those changes at the senior leadership has given a sense of... I hate to use this word, a sense of hope for people who might feel, oh, gosh, it's always the same face at the top, you know, it's always male or it's always white male, you know. And the trust is so diverse, so it's really important that our leaders represent that diversity, which I think it does, and it continues to examine itself, I would say.

And I kind of veer towards, well, the inclusivity bit is about understanding that you've got a range of colleagues with a range of, you know, backgrounds and experiences, and all those other characteristics, and actually everyone's valued. I think that's the hardest bit is that I think any work that is done around the

The case studies 36

















EDI [equality, diversity and inclusion] side of things is done sort of in parallel to creating an environment through which colleagues are valued as individuals and as teams.

In addition, it was clear that individuals in the three case studies were seeking a change in the working environment – a place that *feels* inclusive and welcoming. It has been noted in recent years that the weight of the emphasis on equality, diversity and inclusion has shifted more to the 'inclusion' aspect, that is, a better understanding of 'culture, behaviours, resources, processes and structures, which either promote or inhibit the full and equal engagement of all individuals' (Bolden *et al* 2019, p 23).

I think the goal is to become very inclusive and for everyone to feel comfortable working for our trust... What it means to me is that any... person... just anyone can feel comfortable working, and having different avenues, like different support networks that they can go to ... without feeling uncomfortable.

We're all here for the patients. I think sometimes we lose track of that. Ultimately, it will be [a] better workforce, better patient care. I think ultimately it will be a better place to work – fairness for all.

Interviewees described other hard-to-measure changes, including:

- a sense of psychological safety (for example, being empowered to talk about incidents of racial harassment and being believed and taken seriously)
 - ...the vision is that we can have those difficult conversations and that people are not worried about bringing things up... I think the vision is to not kind of pretend that there isn't a problem.
- greater empathy towards and inclusion of colleagues from all backgrounds
 - I think for me, if we're starting to get to a stage where Black, Asian, minority ethnic colleagues themselves feel that there's real opportunity for themselves but also white colleagues feel a part of that as well... 'cause, you know, people talk about 'EDI' [equality, diversity and inclusion], I always [feel]... the 'I' is the word that people always focus the least on... for me, it's about people feeling

The case studies 37



















inclusive, being a part of something... Getting to a stage where, regardless of your cultural background, people feel a part of something.

 making equality, diversity and inclusion conversations more mainstream, meaningful and purposeful

...my personal experience is that it's a culture through the workforce... that people are trying to really harness a positive culture that's inclusive and diverse. And I hear about these things being discussed openly, honestly within our organisation.

The case studies 38



















4 Interventions to make it safer to talk about race

In this section, we describe two key interventions that our case study sites told us seemed to make it easier to have conversations about race equality and inclusion: the creation of staff networks and psychologically safe routes for raising concerns.

Staff networks

What are staff networks?

All the NHS provider trusts involved in this research have ethnic minority staff networks operating across different sites. These networks are intended to support ethnic minority staff by giving them the opportunity to discuss race-related issues in an inclusive and 'safe' space, to have their concerns heard and for the organisation to respond to them. In our case study sites, we heard examples of new training and development programmes launched as a direct result of the conversations that had taken place at network meetings, as well as access to coaching and mentoring opportunities.

I think those network groups have been very instrumental in... addressing issues that we might have with those particular groups, and trying to change or bring more sort of voice [sic] to those groups as well.

An ethnic minority member of staff chairs the network in all the case study sites and they carry out this extra work alongside their core roles. The networks meet regularly throughout the year. Often the networks had been running for a few years and built momentum and support as they became more established.

How organisations support the implementation of staff networks

We heard lots of positive experiences of staff involved in staff networks, at both an individual and an organisational level. First and foremost, the networks are seen as safe spaces for ethnic minority staff and signal the importance of race-related



















issues to the wider organisation. At ELFT, we heard that organisational support for networks is fundamental, in terms of both senior leadership sponsorship and ensuring staff have 'cover' to attend network meetings and be involved. For example, the chair of the ethnic minority network (as well as the chairs of other staff networks) had time built into their schedule for running the network. This exemplifies the organisation's commitment to the various staff networks.

...over the years, there's been the odd BAME [Black, Asian and minority ethnic] network sort of pop up, but they've always kind of failed, I suppose, because it's been something that people have had to run on top of their normal day job. And I know how much work I put into the network and if I had to do that without the support of having that [dedicated day per week] I don't think it would be anywhere near as successful as it is now.

Organisations can also support their staff networks through support from the communications team, for example ensuring the visibility of the networks and the outcomes from discussions.

So we have very good support for all of the networks from our People and Culture, which is our HR [human resources] team, support for organising meetings, for running conferences or organising conferences, and we have a really good communications team for supporting with when we want to send things out to people and putting articles out and telling people what's going on.

Benefits of staff networks in the case studies

We also heard about the networks contributing to building trust and understanding among staff – particularly as a vehicle to educate and inform white staff about personal experiences:

At the BAME network we all sort of share our lived experiences. They had the other week the inclusion and diversity week and I came and gave my lived experience to explain why I'm the person that I am, a bit about my childhood, what I've endured through work and why I've come out the other side the way I am.

These discussions can be very empowering for participants, giving voice to difficult feelings and at the same time informing and educating others. For example, we



















heard about a powerful experience of a network bringing together ethnic minority and white staff to share their experiences:

The BAME network... it's powerful, some of the mindsets that you change on your journey... it was powerful. The learning from basically hating each other to actually coming together and supporting [one another], and the colleague, the white colleague actually said something... about the relationship and how it's developed [for the better].

Networks represent an opportunity for all staff to understand the perceptions and lived experiences of people from ethnic minority backgrounds. In hearing those perceptions and experiences first-hand, staff can have more empathy towards people with different characteristics from their own. People found this aspect of the networks fascinating as well as fundamental for understanding how people from ethnic minority backgrounds both experience and feel about things.

We heard that the networks could also be enriching and beneficial in practical ways. This was through presenting new opportunities to lead, mentor and coach others, as well as providing an access point to training (ranging from 'building confidence' to successful interview techniques) and the introduction of a formal training and development programme for ethnic minority staff in one case study site.

Challenges for staff networks

Although interviewees regarded the staff networks as largely positive interventions, there were some challenges for the organisations and individuals involved in setting up and running them. For example, chairing networks typically falls to a few individuals to put in a lot of hard (unpaid additional) work, and involves continued motivation and commitment to keep the network going, so it is important that organisations support them in the ways described above.

On a practical level, we heard that the time commitment to attend or be involved with the network was not always possible. For example, it was harder for some clinical staff to take time out of their schedules to attend meetings and engage with the network in the way they wanted to. In more worrying examples, we heard of staff being actively discouraged (or even blocked) from attending the network meetings, or having to provide 'evidence' as to why they should be involved in the network.



















In some cases, we heard that the creation of a network had led to some negativity or resentment among colleagues, specifically some staff feeling excluded. Some felt that the existence of a network for ethnic minority staff meant that those staff were being 'given something extra' – and that it was fundamentally unfair. This resonates with the findings of NHS England's survey research, mentioned in the 'Resources and support' subsection in section 2 of this report (NHS England 2018b, 2017).

One interviewee told us how the creation of the ethnic minority network had uncovered racial tensions within her team. She overheard another member of staff asking if they needed to 'black up' so they could attend a network meeting:

There was actually a Sister, a Black Sister, who was in an office with some of the senior people and they were talking in a corner, two white Sisters, and they said, 'Oh, have you heard about that BAME network group? What do I need to do? Do I need to black up to get on that?' And in front of a Sister who was Black, actually talking and saying that.

Another interviewee noted:

So I think some managers need to understand why certain groups are formed... they see us getting privilege because we're in a BAME network group, [and ask], 'Why isn't there one for our group?' That's just some people, it's not everyone because some people are on board and they're interested to learn and understand about the different cultures and ethnicities... but there's certain ones where they probably think, 'Well why are you lot doing all this? Why can't I go on it?'

Thus, creating a safe space for ethnic minority staff to talk about race-related issues could inadvertently create new (or exacerbate old) divisions between different groups. And, at worst, ethnic minority staff could find themselves having to justify why this type of recognition of difference is needed.

One way that organisations might mitigate this impact is to ensure that networks, or some of them some of the time, are open to all staff (which they were in the three case study sites).

The BAME network and those other forums, need to include more of the people who aren't or who don't possess those characteristics. So, actually it's not [seen

















as] an area where people can talk about how bad it is for them or how bad it isn't for them or the problems they've had, [but instead] how people can constructively engage... in making a change.

We would point out that opening up ethnic minority networks to white staff needs careful consideration given it may inhibit ethnic minority staff members from participating. Based on what we were told, we do not think that there is a 'one size fits all' intervention here – rather, organisational approaches to networks may need to flex over time according to how they are received.

Key learning points about staff networks

Staff networks have developed and grown in strength in all three case study sites. Through our discussions with the sites it is clear that ethnic minority staff have benefited from having a safe space in which to discuss issues affecting them, alongside their white colleagues. This suggests that the creation of a network can be a positive step in tackling discrimination. This was particularly important in sites where networks were used as a space to enable conversations – both negative and positive – to find ways of moving forward while being sensitive to the issues raised. Therefore it seems important to consider the following points when setting up a staff network.

- Try to get buy-in from ethnic minority and white staff.
- Ensure that sufficient time and resources are allocated to the network for it to be effective.
- Be prepared to engage with and work through resistance and tensions where they arise.

Below we offer some key considerations for NHS organisations to take into account.

- What is the main driver for setting up a network for ethnic minority staff? Is it the best intervention to suit local needs?
- What are the ways to engage all staff in the network?

















- Does the network have appropriate sponsorship from the leadership team so that it has some power to effect change and not become a remote or insular 'talking shop'?
- How can staff be given adequate time and flexibility to engage with network meetings?

Psychologically safe routes for raising concerns

Psychological safety has been framed in different ways. In the workplace context, the definition we found most helpful is that psychological safety is a belief that you will not be punished or humiliated for speaking up with ideas, questions or concerns or making mistakes. This involves feeling able to take risks and being vulnerable in front of others and it provides a space in which differences will be valued and welcomed with curiosity. Trust and support are likely to characterise the interpersonal relationships involved (Edmondson 1999).

How did the case studies create psychologically safe routes for raising concerns?

In all three case study sites, staff were provided with a number of informal avenues to speak up and out about racial discrimination. All three were promoting Freedom to Speak Up Guardians (FTSUGs) or other equality, diversity and inclusion champions as routes. For example, CHFT had trained 12 members of staff as 'inclusion representatives' who wear special badges or lanyards to signal they are approachable and happy to talk to staff or patients. The rationale at CHFT is that peer-to-peer conversations and engagement are a powerful way to learn from each other and work better together.

Introduced four years ago throughout the NHS, FTSUGs act as an intermediary between the organisation and individual members of staff who want to raise concerns about when care has not been delivered appropriately, or when they have been mistreated themselves. These discussions are intended to be less formal than raising a formal grievance or complaint (although this might be the ultimate outcome). FTSUGs represent a move away from a climate in which staff are afraid of the repercussions of speaking up, to one of support and conflict resolution. FTSUG training covers common barriers to speaking up and makes clear that some groups of staff (including those from ethnic minority groups) can find it particularly difficult to raise concerns through regular or formal channels (National Guardian's Office 2019).



















Benefits of psychologically safe routes for raising concerns

In all sites, staff we spoke to told us about the many positive aspects of having informal routes to speak out about racism in the workplace, both for themselves individually and for the organisation more widely. We heard that ethnic minority staff see FTSUGs as safer to talk to about concerns and less formal than going through human resources channels, and we were given examples of FTSUGs being very visible and approachable. We also heard that establishing and embedding the FTSUG role had taken time, and had required organisations to commit to the continued support of FTSUGs.

We call them Freedom to Speak Up Guardians... if you see them and you want to raise a topic to them or want to have a conversation, you can stop and have that conversation. So that's something that wasn't here two-and-a-half years ago. And... people are stopping, people are now willing to talk, so it's good that people are feeling comfortable to do so. Which probably two-and-a-half years ago, we didn't have that in place, so it might not have happened, might not have had that conversation.

These routes for raising concerns can also be ways to determine wider, systemic issues across teams or parts of an organisation. According to FTSUGs we spoke to, the informal conversations they have can highlight a wider problem that needs an organisational (as opposed to an individual) response:

...the more concerns I get from... an area, then I start thinking, 'What's going on here?' I keep getting nurses [coming] to me and I keep getting staff from certain backgrounds coming to me. And, you know, we need to then sit down to say, 'Are we treating people differently, in a way that we're not even conscious of?' But certainly it's coming to [the] surface that it's the same people that are going through this experience.

Considerations for implementing psychologically safe routes for raising concerns

While we heard that staff thought that having informal and safe routes to disclose concerns was a positive thing, we also noticed that FTSUG roles were not problem free. For example, ensuring complaints and issues are heard builds confidence among staff that FTSUGs offer safe opportunities to effect change – but this can create a sense of individuals' responsibility to 'fix' problems that might require whole organisational intervention.



















Generally, the sites used multiple formal and informal routes to encourage staff to speak up about difficult things they were going through. A (staff side) union representative pointed out that this could be confusing and so it should be made clear to staff what the different channels 'offer' so that people get the support they need as quickly as possible.

Key learning points about routes for raising concerns

FTSUGs or inclusion officers can empower NHS staff to raise concerns. However, this requires:

- an ongoing commitment to having FTSUGs available for issues to be addressed (perhaps through multiple FTSUGs working in different sites)
- adequate training for FTSUGs on how to deal with race equality and inclusion issues
- support (both time and emotional) for FTSUGs to carry out their role sensitively and appropriately
- a willingness by FTSUGs and the organisation to hear the challenges that
 ethnic minority staff raise in some cases, this requires the organisation to
 acknowledge patterns of behaviour when ethnic minority staff raise similar
 concerns and to respond accordingly.

















Interventions to enable development and career progression

There is a pattern throughout the NHS of ethnic minority staff reporting barriers to development and career progression. Data from the WRES Implementation Team (2020) suggest that for NHS trusts in 2019:

- the relative likelihood of white applicants being appointed from shortlisting across all posts compared with ethnic minority applicants was 1.46
- the relative likelihood of white staff accessing non-mandatory training and continuous professional development compared with ethnic minority staff was 1.15.

Therefore, development and career progression for ethnic minority staff seem to be particularly important, especially given that the WRES data also indicates the lack of ethnic diversity at more senior levels within the NHS. In our case studies, frustration about the perceived lack of opportunity to progress was a strong theme in the experience of the ethnic minority staff we interviewed.

For example, several ethnic minority interviewees told us they have been repeatedly 'knocked back' when applying for more senior roles or they felt they had been overlooked for developmental opportunities, such as secondments or projects in which they could showcase their whole potential.

I haven't progressed in my organisation. I did say I'd love to do a secondment within this [organisation], but nothing really has happened there. It would be good to be able to do a secondment because I've not had experience in the other areas, but having the experience within the trust in an area of seeing how the trust actually works would be beneficial... So I'm expanding myself, expanding my knowledge in the hope that I'm going to find something that's going to be ideal for me.

















Therefore, an ongoing commitment to training and development for ethnic minority staff is important. We think this should be framed as primarily about redressing historical imbalances concerning access - that is, encouraging those who have felt less able or enabled to do so, to take up opportunities their colleagues have enjoyed as a matter of course, rather than implying that ethnic minority staff are somehow lacking compared with their white colleagues. Further, if race equality is to be everyone's responsibility, then all leadership development programmes need to deal with the topics of diversity and inclusion and how everyone is involved in perpetuating structural inequality. A further step would be for providers of development programmes to address the issues of diversity and inclusion in relation to the recruitment of both participants and facilitators, ensuring that inclusive ways of working are embedded in all aspects of the programme work. At The King's Fund we are striving to do this in relation to our leadership development programmes. That is, in our 'Building Your Authority' and 'Top Manager' programmes respectively we cover learning on diversity and inclusion and use multiple methods to encourage access and participation from a wide range of participants, including those from an ethnic minority background (for the latter programme, see www.kingsfund.org.uk/ courses/top-manager-programme#who-is-it-for).

Development programmes

Outcomes from career development programmes

In Bradford we heard about the 'Moving Forward' programme. This was developed following the publication of WRES data, which showed that most ethnic minority staff at the trust were employed in band 4–6 roles and that there was a significant lack of ethnic diversity at senior levels. The programme aims to equip staff in band 5 and 6 roles with leadership skills and learning experiences to help them apply for and be successful in securing more senior positions. In this case, the data highlighted a problem to the trust, and it was the trust's willingness to accept the problem and find a solution that led to the development of the programme.

A participant on the Moving Forward programme told us about the positive impact it had had on their life and career:

...we looked at resilience, interview techniques, all kinds of different things. In terms of measuring those outcomes as well... I've been promoted twice since, and that's

















that empowerment that [it's] given me to be able to be focused, be positive, to go for things more.

Due to a lack of vacancies at senior levels at BDCFT, not all career progression was possible 'in house', meaning some Moving Forward graduates moved on to other organisations.

Moving Forward has proven to be popular with staff at BDCFT; four cohorts have participated since it was introduced and staff have expressed a clear wish for the programme to continue to run in its annual cycle because it is perceived as a 'flagship' initiative in the trust's work on race equality and inclusion. The programme is also available to two other NHS trusts in the local area, suggesting it can be a scalable intervention.

Resistance

Generally speaking, ethnic minority staff who we interviewed received the development programmes such as Moving Forward positively, and white interviewees were very supportive of their ethnic minority colleagues having an opportunity to go on bespoke programmes, understanding the need for protected space to explore issues related to race and identity and how they play into career development. But there was also potential for this to be seen as a divisive move. A white interviewee recalled feeling shocked when there was an announcement that a leadership development programme was opening up at the trust and only ethnic minority staff could participate. They said that team members (some of them from ethnic minority backgrounds) were similarly surprised and felt the decision was unfair and exclusionary. After some probing from the interviewer about those feelings of shock, the individual then shared some of the reasons for their misgivings about programmes only for ethnic minority people.

Their opinion holds important insight in regard to the sources of resistance or scepticism about the impact of 'exclusive' leadership development programmes, and more generally about race equality and inclusion interventions.

Like I say, for me I got quite upset because I felt suddenly, well, where I had a leadership programme before for everybody, now there's no leadership programme for me... there's only a leadership programme for the BAME [Black, Asian and

















minority ethnic] candidates... Everybody received an email [announcing the programme], which we were absolutely just appalled at the wording of the email... I was like wow that felt like a step back in time... We shouldn't be segregating, we should be inclusive and bringing everybody together... For the [ethnic minority] leadership programme, it's well, 'What [have you] been taught which I couldn't be taught?' What is actually being said [to programme participants]? Is it, this sounds really bad and really racist, but is it, 'Don't listen to the white man'? It's not, I know it's not but... For me, understanding comes like I say from talking to people of many races and ethnic backgrounds, bring them altogether.

Such examples of resistance can help to illuminate structural biases that may never otherwise come to light. As such, we think examples of resistance can usefully be seen as something to be sought out, understood and inquired into – rather than being ignored or eliminated. Frank conversations about why development is being offered to particular groups, and being open to exploring some of the dilemmas, challenges and opposing views that may result from choosing to implement these kinds of interventions, may help. This could include, for example, involving others in exploring questions about how development programmes aimed at ethnic minority staff might create a sense that they somehow need to be 'brought up' to the same level or standard as white people. Or about how development programmes might serve to help ethnic minority people 'fit in' to predominantly white working environments, thus creating a sense that some things about ethnic minority people have to change or be given up, rather than everyone engaging with what they might need to do differently to create a more equal workplace.

Addressing organisational obstacles to career progression

As we note above, committing to race equality and inclusion is in the gift of everyone. While development programmes can help individuals to feel more confident, sometimes obstacles lie with recruitment practices or a lack of awareness of race equality issues.

In all three case study sites, multiple training and development opportunities have been opened up especially for ethnic minority staff as well as for white staff with regards to understanding difference of experience (for example, 'Sharing Perspectives'-type workshops).

















One example we heard about was through different forms of unconscious bias training, which we noted in section 2 has some limitations but helps to raise awareness about diversity and inclusion issues. We heard that it was a popular initiative among leaders and other staff in the case studies because it opened people up to some of the dynamics at play in decision-making.

...we've had a 'time-out' day about unconscious bias, and for me it really hit home. There was so much that I learnt from that and took from that in the sense that it's what I don't know [that] I need to improve on. And... how different cultures influence how [people] might come across at work. ... I think we all learnt a lot from that, so it was really good.

In one trust, following the publication of data showing lower-than-average recruitment of people from ethnic minority groups, unconscious bias training was introduced for all staff involved in recruitment processes. During a sustained three-year period of this training programme, the trust reported improved figures for the recruitment of ethnic minority people. However, alongside a catalyst such as WRES data, we found that it was imperative to keep up the momentum. Having run unconscious bias training for three years, the trust decided to stop offering the programme, which some interviewees felt prompted a decline in the recruitment of ethnic minority people.

Another intervention that case study sites had introduced was reverse mentoring. Such initiatives have garnered a lot of support and increased understanding of the differences of experience for those involved. People expressed some positive views about leaders' willingness to engage and learn:

I would say the most impactful part of one of the things that we've done would be inclusive mentoring. So the inclusive mentoring when we first launched that, what we [members of the ethnic minority network] said is we wanted the executive directors to be part of that programme... to be paired up with somebody who might've been a band 5 nurse or a band 3 admin person. I think [it] was a real eye-opener particularly for the exec directors because... whilst... they... will walk around and they'll do the leadership walkabouts and they've got the open-door policies and stuff. But actually to do that on a one-to-one basis and to hear from a BME person... what it's really like to be BME in this organisation and what is their experience, your living experience day to day... I think was the biggest shift for us in terms of buy-in from the exec team.

















Key learning points about development and career progression

In summary:

- Targeted programmes can help to address historic imbalances in access to development and career progression for ethnic minority staff.
- Careful thought is needed about how such development interventions might exacerbate old or create new divisions.
- Engaging with a range of staff about the design of interventions may help to bring resistance/systemic biases to light, which can then be worked with as part of implementation.
- Interventions to address organisational obstacles or biases that influence the outcomes of recruitment processes are also important.

















The importance of leadership and allyship

The role of senior leaders and demonstrating leadership for race equality came through as very strong themes in our interviews regarding how race equality and inclusion efforts can play out. This is perhaps unsurprising given the national focus on leadership and culture in the NHS in recent years (NHS Improvement 2016a) and the growing evidence base that links it with outcomes for patients (West *et al* 2014).

In this section, we consider five themes that arose in our interview data:

- the impact of diverse leadership
- the importance of allies
- board leadership and distributed models of leadership
- leaders 'holding' the tensions around race equality and inclusion
- support for leaders working on race equality.

The impact of diverse leadership

As we noted in section 1, the latest WRES data shows that ethnic minority staff are significantly under-represented in very senior manager positions – that is, 6.5 per cent (given that 19.7 per cent of the NHS workforce is made of ethnic minority staff) (WRES Implementation Team 2020). However, it should be noted that the percentage of ethnic minority very senior managers and board members is increasing year on year. This is welcome news given that we heard that the diverse make-up of boards, or of others at very senior leadership levels, can have a profound impact on staff, whether those staff are from an ethnic minority background or not.

I think [seeing a more diverse board of directors] shows that equality is working. Yes, I think it would inspire other staff. You'll find that there's somebody you can speak to, somebody you can relate to, somebody to talk to.



















The most senior leaders in NHS organisations clearly have an important role to play in setting priorities and role modelling the behaviours and practices they wish to see in their organisations. In our interviews, we heard about senior leaders 'leading by example' on race equality and inclusion issues, which members of staff felt very powerfully; this was described as inspirational, motivating and creating a sense of the importance of the work. Some leaders took on a more 'visible' approach by chairing staff network meetings (or sharing personal lived experience in those meetings), or unblocking barriers to participation in staff networks (for example, contacting line managers to encourage them to give members of staff time to go to network meetings), or addressing some of the sceptical views that some members of staff expressed about race equality and inclusion.

Conversely, we heard how the lack of a diverse executive and leadership team can also affect how ethnic minority staff in particular feel about being at work. For example, one interviewee said it was difficult to see how race equality and inclusion efforts driven by a largely white executive team would be able to change things for ethnic minority staff in a meaningful way.

I don't see anybody of my kind there [on the board], it's just all white faces. So they don't fully understand, I don't think they understand the difficulties that BME [Black and minority ethnic] people go through, you know, which is slightly different to our white colleagues. And so our profile is a lot lower because there's not many of us.

The importance of allies

Of course, the visible (or vocal) demonstration of leadership is not only in the gift of leaders from ethnic minority backgrounds; and if race inequality is seen as something that everyone in an organisation or society participates in perpetuating, then the responsibility for tackling race inequality sits with all leaders whatever their ethnic background.

The term 'allyship' has been used to describe how those with relative advantages due to their background or experience, can use those advantages to further the cause of marginalised groups. It is a contested term, but definitions often involve the concepts of:

acting to promote marginalised groups, for example through sponsorship or advocacy



















- taking on the struggles of marginalised groups as one's own, rather than being a bystander, which may inadvertently perpetuate divisions
- taking responsibility for increasing understanding of the structural aspects of inequality and the part we each play in it, through studying the issues and oneself (Carlson et al 2019).

Put this way, allyship is no easy task and involves personal risks that people may not have encountered before.

So, we've had to be quite bold on a lot of our EDI [equality, diversity and inclusion] messages in terms of what we do and what we don't tolerate. That... really says to people we are going to be mixing things up a bit and if you don't like it, this ain't for you. I think that sends a very positive message to people who we want here, who are up for that. But it sends a very clear message to people who are not up for that and we have found that whilst it's important to hear everybody's views, people need to know what their organisation stands for.

However, the impact of taking a stand can be profound: if the challenge to longstanding patterns of behaviour comes from less expected sources, then this may shine a light on the assumptions that underpin structural biases in a way that might not be possible otherwise. This may offer new opportunities for conversation and action.

Board leadership and distributed models of leadership

Modelling a commitment to creating a more diverse and inclusive organisation does not stop with board composition or the acts of individual leaders. Significant organisational processes that are perceived to be the remit of senior leaders can be felt as powerful messages about those commitments. For example, interviewees highlighted the very difficult reality of working on equality, diversity and inclusion in the NHS. Some noted that their race equality and inclusion strategy had been created at executive level with the best of intentions, but without the participation of those who will be implicated in the strategy. While this may be interpreted as the executive taking responsibility for tackling inequalities, staff may interpret it as the executive team avoiding having to engage with the real stories of discrimination and having robust debate, and unconsciously preserving the status quo. This can compound the sense of inequalities in the workplace.



















Because the trust itself, it's having that confidence and stuff and going forward you can get there, but I think if you're looking to support a certain group, you've got to get in and amongst the guys and understand what it is that's... and then that's the starting point, because if you're setting the starting point from behind a closed door, I'm not sure that you're going to get it.

Further, it is important not to place all of the emphasis on boards; while an organisation's most senior leaders clearly influence what people pay attention to and value, every interaction in an organisation goes towards creating the working environment. Perhaps acknowledging this, we found that all of our case study sites saw moving towards collective leadership as important. This means creating an environment where people at all levels in the organisation have responsibility for improving aspects of trust performance, including on race equality and inclusion. This reflects a wider move towards the aspirations of compassion and inclusion that have been associated with better outcomes for patients and staff wellbeing (West et al 2014).

Leaders 'holding' the tensions around race equality and inclusion

The reality of competing priorities in an understaffed and under-resourced system, however, means the ambition of everyone taking responsibility for race equality and inclusion is itself challenging. For example, in ward teams, team leaders will have a range of priorities that could be competing with the time and resources needed to support race equality and inclusion activities, such as ensuring shifts are 'filled' versus releasing people to participate in the activities. Generally, in the three case studies, interviewees regarded team leaders as being supportive of their participation in race equality and inclusion work. However, some staff did not always feel their team leaders, managers or peers fully valued race equality and inclusion work and had to seek the help of equality, diversity and inclusion champions to gain permission to attend network meetings, for example.

If it is assumed that the range of responses described above reflect the complexities of trying to provide high-quality care for patients, then they are likely to include valid concerns that need to be addressed. Left unaddressed, these concerns can lead to feelings of resentment, lack of recognition or lack of fairness, which may work against organisational efforts to increase inclusion. Taking this further, it may be helpful to consider how resistance to race equality and inclusion interventions



















might be engaged with. For example, one interviewee told us that they saw resistance as a 'gift', as it presented the starting point for inquiry and dialogue, even though it may sometimes be uncomfortable. A further step may be to explore the responses of team managers as interventions are designed, so that issues can be pre-empted and addressed at an organisational level rather than being left to individuals.

Support for leaders working on race equality

What starts to emerge from exploring how organisations are moving towards making the most of the diversity of their employees, is that leadership, and allyship, are ongoing activities that need to keep taking account of each organisation's history, context and responses to equality, diversity and inclusion interventions. Staff are likely to expect a lot from those in formal leadership positions, and from officers who take on formal roles in relation to race equality and inclusion. We heard that standing by commitments made to making progress seemed to be of particular importance given the long history of, and slow progress in addressing, race inequality. For example, some of our interviewees reported that 'good' initiatives, once out of the spotlight, can get quickly forgotten, especially if there is high turnover of staff. This can make well-intentioned activities feel tokenistic, regardless of the actual commitment of those instigating them.

One consequence of this need for ongoing effort is the personal cost of being a diversity champion or leader. Tackling the longstanding systemic problem of race inequality can easily become located with individuals (for example, chairs of staff networks), particularly those from marginalised groups and/or without the appropriate level of seniority to influence decision-makers such as board members (Dawson et al 2019). Therefore, we think organisations may benefit from thinking about what support leaders or officers working on race equality and inclusion may need – in the form of peer support or supervision – so that they can maintain their resilience and the ability to keep distributing responsibility back to all levels of the organisation.



















Key learning points about leadership and allyship

In summary:

- Everyone has a role to play in an organisation's race equality and inclusion effort through leadership, participation or allyship.
- Pre-empting resistance and treating it when it does arise as an opportunity for inquiry may help everyone to feel included.
- If making workplaces more inclusive really is everyone's responsibility, then leaders need to think about how the design and implementation of strategies or interventions model the principles of inclusion.
- Leadership for race equality and inclusion is an ongoing activity that creates an emotional burden. Leaders may need support, for example through peer networks or supervision.

















How did race equality and inclusion change in the case studies?

As part of our research we were interested in understanding what, if any, impact the race equality and inclusion interventions had had according to the reflections of members of staff. Most importantly, we wanted to understand what it felt like to staff to be part of an organisation that was starting to acknowledge and tackle workforce race inequalities.

What was it like before the introduction of race equality and inclusion interventions?

We asked interviewees what their experience was of the culture in their organisation before any work in this area had begun. Unsurprisingly (to us at least), we heard a range of experiences, which highlighted cultures of denial (about there being a problem with racism in the trust), examples of staff being on the receiving end of 'casual' racism or micro-aggressions, and examples of staff from ethnic minority backgrounds being actively 'blocked' from developing or progressing in their careers.

In one of the case studies, we heard about racism directed at some staff, for example a monkey toy being left on the locker of a Black member of staff. One interviewee talked about appearing on television as part of a feature about fundraising for different charities and how his colleagues reacted to this:

[I'm part of] a group of Black cyclists who raise funds [for charities] and create awareness. The BBC saw us at an event and they wanted to film us... and we did an interview. I was in the kitchen [at work] and [somebody said], 'I'm sure I saw you on the TV the other day.' Now there was [another] guy [who] must have been listening to this and he turned around and he said, 'What was that? Crimewatch UK?' Later on, I asked some of the secretaries, 'Who's that guy there?' [They replied,] 'That was

















a consultant.' So what chance do we have in a diverse country, diverse community, when you've got a consultant, a white consultant, actually making comments like that?

We also heard how some race equality and inclusion initiatives had been started, but due to a lack of support or real 'will' to take them forward, they had not taken root. For example, in one of the case studies, a previous attempt at setting up an ethnic minority staff network failed because of lack of support and understanding from the wider organisation or the senior leadership team. However, it was encouraging that when relaying their experiences to us, many interviewees could articulate that they felt there was a difference between 'then and now':

I would say 16-and-a-half years ago it were a very different climate to the climate we're in now. I would like to think that there's been some advances. Sixteen-and-a-half years ago I would find it more uncomfortable as a person of colour in the trust. If I look back at the interview process and thinking about why people were recruited, sometimes you felt like you were the token Black face. So, you were a tick-box recruitment is how I probably felt with my staff nurse role. Now, when I went for my Sister's post... I felt that when I got this post that I'm in now, that it was because I deserved it and not because of the colour of my skin.

What impact have race equality and inclusion interventions had on staff at an individual level?

When we spoke to interviewees in the case study sites, we were struck by some of the examples people gave about experiencing discrimination. The following example shows how important it is to tackle race inequalities and inclusion issues, but also how remarkable (if subtle) progress has been in the case studies. Albeit that progress is neither linear nor continual at all times, changes in the culture of an organisation are likely to be felt as powerful ones on different levels.

One interviewee told us about what had happened to her early on in her career as a nurse at the trust and how, many years later, she felt this kind of treatment would not occur in the present day in her organisation:

A year or 18 months into my staff nurse role, there was another staff nurse who was renowned for being... well racist, there's no other word for it. I was picked on, felt



















like I needed to [with]draw... there [used to be] a staff room that was centred in the middle of the ward, so on nights and things you could navigate into that room and come out to do what you needed to do. So, you didn't have nurses' stations as such. I would withdraw out of there if that lady was working and sit on my own because... sitting with her was really uncomfortable... And then there was an incident... where I'd had a childcare issue... and [this staff nurse] made that an issue and said I'd sworn at her, which I hadn't... I actually got frogmarched off the premises... I came in for my shift two days later, I was brought into the office and asked to leave whilst they investigated it. All over being told that I'd swore at this one person. And I just think if that had been now, that wouldn't have happened. In hindsight... it should have been dealt with at a ward level and I should never have been marched off the premises. I had four months off work because of that. But I don't think that would happen now.'

When talking to interviewees about the impact of the interventions discussed above, it was clear that some of the interventions had had a deep and lasting impact on them. We heard how being given the space and freedom to express one's voice – for example, in the staff network or as part of a development programme – was hugely important in building confidence and feeling valued. One interviewee told us how the Moving Forward programme had given them confidence and the desire to 'find the better version of me and... I will keep striving and moving forward'. We also heard from staff that being listened to – particularly by senior leaders – meant that they felt able to speak out: 'I think it's easier saying things out loud having the board of directors on board and having their support.'

The power of race equality and inclusion interventions to have an impact on individuals is not solely felt by ethnic minority staff. We heard how being involved in race equality and inclusion work (particularly through reverse mentoring, and through sharing of the lived experiences of ethnic minority staff) had had an impact on white staff. Through reverse mentoring, one interviewee felt able to raise their mentee's awareness that racial discrimination was a real issue in the organisation:

She [the mentee, an executive director] said she did not believe that there was anything wrong in this trust, there was no discrimination, there was none of that, you know? So I was, like, okay... but then I put myself in her shoes where you're an exec director and you're focusing on what you need to focus on and you don't see anything that's going on, you're not aware of that, but at the same time as an



















exec director, you should be making sure you know what is going on within your organisation, you know? I mentioned about monkeys on a locker ... and she had to deal with all that and so then she became more aware. I think the whole [reverse] mentoring programme was fantastic... When you see those exec directors, they've learnt so much about what is actually going on, because when you're at that level, and then you're speaking to people at that level, you don't know what's going on here, actually on the ground floor, and then when you get to understand that then you can actually do your work better at that level and vice versa, because we can assist them at what they're doing.

We wanted to hear whether members of staff in the case studies felt the focus on inequalities and inclusion had made any difference. We heard about a noticeable change within the organisations' culture. This was described as a feeling of things changing for the better for ethnic minority staff.

Often when talking to interviewees they described an ambition for the organisation to be more inclusive and fairer, and that it was an ambition felt and understood widely across the case study sites. For example, in one case study site, an interviewee noted that the direction for the trust was quite clear: '[The goal is] very much whole inclusion, equality, diversity, irrespective of who you are, culture, background, religion, sexual orientation, you know, it's fair, it needs to be fair across the board.'

Another interviewee noted that they felt that the growing numbers of ethnic minority and white people attending their ethnic minority network meetings was a clear indication of the shift in attitude towards race equality and inclusion work in their organisation. Further, they had noticed a shift in the relationship between them and their manager, indicative (for them) of the wider change in the organisation:

There's definitely been a shift. Even my manager... I don't think she's fully understood what [equality, diversity and inclusion work is] about and I do believe that she may have been spoken to at that point for her to gain some understanding about why these packages are being introduced. I think she [now] understands it's an investment into a member of her team. So, she's shifted.

Finally, it is worth noting that interviewees all acknowledged that achieving equity will take time, but that for any changes to have an impact on the culture of the organisation, there must be a maturity and acceptance that things are not



















perfect. There has to be a willingness to hear staff when they raise concerns about discrimination or to actively look into how discrimination might be showing up in the workplace – above and below the surface. In one organisation, this involved closer examination of how the formal disciplinary process was working and how staff were being affected.

...we surveyed staff who'd been through the disciplinary process... Are these people that are going through these processes, do they feel like they've been treated fairly? Do they feel like the chair listens to their mitigation? Did they feel that the sanction was just? Did they feel like if their white counterpart had done that, would they have got the same sanction? And that just snowballed, so we got valuable feedback from that. I think there is a maturity and an acceptance that we haven't got it right.

The 'ripple effect' of race equality and inclusion interventions

When ethnic minority staff are empowered through race equality and inclusion interventions, a powerful 'ripple effect' can be created. For example, we heard about ethnic minority staff feeling energised by the momentum created in their organisations and wanting to pass that on to others:

I can see the change in myself, I'm a lot more positive, I'm empowered by what I do, yes. There's just so much energy. Even inside of work and outside of work, I just feel really empowered, full of energy, and I want to pass that on. It's about passing on the knowledge that I've got and the positivity... I was kind of disillusioned with the whole organisation at one point. It was like where can I go from here? I feel like I want to take a step forward and I'm getting pushed back all the time, you know? It felt like I was being suppressed, but I take that energy now and use it in a positive way, you know. What I can't influence, I leave that alone, and I move with what I can influence, because there's always going to be people that are going to be there to block it, you know? Just go around and get to where I want to go. So yes, at this present moment, I'm empowered.

Another interviewee told us:

[As an ethnic minority staff member] I think my role is... making sure that I can empower Black and Asian colleagues, and also a safe forum for them to be able to come and discuss, be empowered, you know, and all different levels, I think it's very



















important it's all different levels... Whether you're a domestic or a porter or you're a band 6, 7, I want everybody to be in there talking about their journey and learning from others, taking all these different opportunities that you can get, and empower each other, I think that's what is very important, it's fairness for all.

Key learning points about how race equality and inclusion changed

We have deliberately presented rich, qualitative accounts about the impact of race equality and inclusion work in the case studies in order to give a sense of how change unfolded and how it was felt. This data shows us the following.

- Being on the receiving end of racial discrimination and harassment is painful and can have a deep and lasting impact.
- It is important to make it safer to talk about race, but this will inevitably mean being prepared to hear about and confront some ugly truths about behaviours between colleagues.
- Addressing race inequality and inclusion issues can have a notable impact on individuals and on organisations.
- Measuring progress in an organisation will not necessarily be as straightforward as referring to WRES metrics; more qualitative data on staff experience will offer essential indications of how change is felt.



















8 Key lessons and questions to consider

We were privileged through this research to be able to take a detailed look at what three NHS providers are doing to address workforce race equality and inclusion issues. Participants in the three case study sites told us they are in the relatively early days of addressing workforce race inequalities. They agreed to participate in the research as part of a learning process – to aid their own learning and to offer insights to other organisations in this space.

The three case studies are working hard towards achieving their aims of developing more equity and inclusive working environments for ethnic minority staff. Everyone has a role to play in an organisation's race equality and inclusion effort – through leadership, participation or allyship. Interventions such as staff networks – particularly when well resourced and supported – are leading to meaningful changes for individuals and for the wider organisations (albeit such 'ripple effects' can be hard to measure and track through standard metrics). There are, however, various considerations for organisations to factor in to their thinking about addressing race inequalities and inclusion – for example, working with and through resistance to race equality and inclusion initiatives.

In this final section, we draw together some of the key lessons that emerged from our research, and we pose some key questions we think may help readers to reflect on our report and their own organisation's approaches to working on race equality.

There are no magic solutions to an age-old issue

The first lesson for us was the difficulty in objectively identifying examples of NHS providers making sustained improvements against key WRES metrics. This suggested that no organisations had achieved equality in what ethnic minority and white staff report across the different indicators. That was a troubling (but perhaps not unexpected) finding and re-emphasised the reality of working towards fairer workplaces in the NHS: that, to date, it has not been easy, quick or straightforward.



















This would correspond with the heartfelt statement that the director of the national WRES Implementation Team made in response to the latest WRES data, pointing out how race inequality is 'one of the most complex, difficult and intractable problems' we have had to face this century. She highlights where progress has been made and how even improvements that seem small should be celebrated as important signs of evolutionary (if not revolutionary) change (Coghill 2020).

Questions to consider:

- What are your most important local issues regarding race equality? How do you know?
- What are your expectations around the impact of your work on race equality? Where have these expectations come from? How ambitious are they?

Approaches to race equality and inclusion are not 'one size fits all'

The history of race inequality has long and deep roots, which means race equality and inclusion may be unamenable to simple applications to evidence-based interventions that do not take into account the subtleties of local context and history. A 'do-once' attitude, or well-intended processes that do not model the spirit of the outcome, may even be harmful.

Working on race equality and inclusion needs to be an ongoing, moment-by-moment activity that engages with and responds to people's lived experiences of how interventions are being received – positive and negative. This might mean that approaches change over time, in innovative ways, to keep up with the speed of habituation.

Questions to consider:

- What do you know about the history of race inequality locally? How is your work on race equality responding to that history?
- How will you know if your interventions are 'working'? Who are you involving in your thinking about this and who is monitoring it?
- Who are you expecting to do the work? Why?



















Addressing race equality and inclusion in organisations can make a difference – with a sustained commitment, over time

In our interviews we heard about some people's painful experiences of discrimination at work; for some, incidents dating back a number of years could still feel raw and 'live'. Emotions were palpable and we could see and hear first-hand the scale of the challenge facing case study sites. Therefore, it was heartening to see examples of trusts taking race equality and inclusion seriously and dedicating time, energy and resources to it. This was helping to develop positive and inclusive cultures, for example by creating safe spaces to explore race-related issues.

However, none of these changes would be possible without staff at all levels giving the interventions their constant attention and being prepared for things not going quite as planned. Of course, senior leaders need to demonstrate strong commitment to and support for race equality and inclusion (including being 'hands-on' when appropriate and ultimately accountable), but initiatives lend themselves well to more distributed models of leadership, with staff from across the organisation playing a central role in the work (for example, chairs of staff networks). Emphasising the *judgements* that leaders at all levels make as to what to do, modelling curiosity, admitting mistakes, encouraging participation and showing genuine commitment seem to be important so that interventions do not come across as tokenistic or inauthentic.

Questions to consider:

- How are you supporting your colleagues to think about and act on race inequality? What happens when the pressure is on or the work gets particularly challenging?
- How are you identifying, understanding and working with resistance as a way to understand structural inequality? How might you see it as a 'gift'?
- How are you thinking about your own role in relation to race equality?
 What actions or risks are you prepared to take personally to create fairer workplaces?



















What next?

It was encouraging to see examples of individual NHS provider organisations taking positive steps towards developing a more inclusive culture. There are signs the NHS is responding to the call to action around race inequalities. The King's Fund is in the early stages of working with the provider trust chief executives and CCG accountable officers in London on how, as the heads of the capital's anchor institutions, they are leading for race equality.

At a national level, the forthcoming NHS people plan offers a unique opportunity to transform NHS culture, with equality, diversity and inclusion as a golden thread throughout its five themes of making the NHS the best place to work, improving leadership culture, tackling the nursing challenge, delivering 21st-century care and a new operating model for the workforce (West 2020). This form of strategic focus on equality, diversity and inclusion at a national level would likely help the NHS system, which has been struggling to achieve an inclusive, people-centred culture over many years – so long as organisations are ready and willing to reflect deeply on what staff are telling them and work hard to make a difference for the current and future NHS workforce.

This report suggests that it is local action in teams, departments and organisations (big and small) where the work is, because that is where the people are. We hope that the report will help NHS organisations to continue – or open up – crucial conversations about race inequalities and inclusion.

















Appendix 1: Methodology

To select three case studies, we initially set out by looking at the national NHS Staff Survey data for NHS providers where there had been sustained improvements against the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) indicators since these were first published in 2016. The WRES compares ethnic minority and white ethnic groups and we adopted the same focus – that is, we did not split 'white' into its component groups. Further, we opted to focus on NHS providers, or NHS trusts (as opposed to NHS commissioners), in line with what the annual WRES reporting focuses on.

We wanted to establish which NHS providers consistently reported a statistically similar and above-average experience for white and ethnic minority staff over the whole time period of the data, or improved towards doing so. Interestingly, analysis of the data showed that there were no providers that either consistently reported above-average and statistically similar experience scores for ethnic minority and white staff, or who saw a move towards equal experience over time across all the indicators collected within the WRES (at both the 95 and 90 per cent confidence levels). Some providers demonstrated some improvement across some, but not all, of the dimensions within the WRES collection.

In consultation with members of the project's external advisory group (see the Acknowledgements section), we gathered the indicators in the WRES collection into groupings with broad themes (as shown in Table 1) and identified providers that either demonstrated a move towards equality of experience for ethnic minority and white staff in terms of those groupings, or consistently showed a statistically similar and above-average experience for staff across the whole period of data (2016–18).

We created the groupings based on the themes of the variables within them, bringing together: the indicators on experiencing discrimination or abuse from other staff individually into 'experience of discrimination from other staff'; the indicators around recruitment and development in role into 'equality of opportunity'; and the indicators on corporate policies towards discrimination into 'other indicators of discrimination'. Having already seen the lack of positive results returned at the 95 and 90 per cent confidence levels, we moved to an 80 per cent threshold (that





















is, the point at which there was a less than 20 per cent probability of the reported results being similar due to chance) for the rest of our analysis.

As shown in Table 1, we identified only a small number of NHS providers across the three groupings. This is indicative of how difficult it is to find examples of NHS providers reporting sustained improvements against WRES metrics year on year (albeit within a two-year period).

WRES variable	Our grouping	Number of trusts identified across all variables in the grouping (with 80 per cent confidence intervals)
NHS Staff Survey Q15b: 'In the last 12 months have you personally experienced discrimination at work from any of the following: manager/team leader or other colleagues?'	Experience of discrimination from other staff	1
NHS Staff Survey Key Finding 26: Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12 months		
NHS Staff Survey Key Finding 21: Percentage of staff believing that their trust provides equal opportunities for career progression or promotion	Equality of opportunity	2
WRES indicator 2: Relative likelihood of staff being appointed from shortlisting across all posts		
WRES indicator 4: Relative likelihood of staff accessing non-mandatory training and continuous professional development		
WRES indicator 9: Percentage difference between the organisation's board voting membership and its overall workforce		
NHS Staff Survey Key Finding 25: Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12 months	Other indicators of discrimination	2
WRES indicator 3: Relative likelihood of staff entering the formal disciplinary process compared with white staff	-	



















Because our initial data-led approach did not conclusively point to case study sites that demonstrated sustained and comprehensive improvement on race equality, we combined the five sites identified through the data with a list of 15 other NHS providers where there were anecdotally promising signs of improvement in workforce culture (based on suggestions from members of the national WRES Implementation Team and individuals in our own network) – albeit this was not demonstrated through a statistically significant change in the WRES data.

We contacted all providers on our list. Six providers responded and shared some information about their approaches to race equality and inclusion with us. Following this initial scoping, we selected three NHS providers of different types, in different locations and using different techniques to improve the experiences of ethnic minority people in their workforce. It was important to look at race equality and inclusion in different contexts.

We took one of the three providers in our case study sample from the data analysis – Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust – and the other two were recommended (see Table 2). With formal action plans linked to the WRES only being required since 2016, all three providers can be described as being in the fairly early days of working towards race equality and inclusion.

In each provider we interviewed a range of individuals, including:

- members of staff (a combination of those directly involved in race equality work and those not)
- Freedom to Speak Up Guardians
- a local trade union representative
- an organisation development manager
- equality, diversity and inclusion managers or leads
- board members (typically the chief executive and director of human resources)
- any relevant external stakeholders.

















Table 2 Selected case studies

Name of NHS provider case study	Provider type	How selected	Number of individuals interviewed
Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust	Community, mental health and learning disabilities	Our data analysis	16*
Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust	Acute	Recommended	16
East London NHS Foundation Trust	Mental health, community	Recommended	9

A combination of face-to-face and telephone interviews were carried out between

September and November 2019. We asked participants to give their reflections on the current culture within their organisation; the specific things that have happened to address equality, diversity and inclusion; and what they had learnt from the experience. We analysed the interview data thematically, aided by specialist qualitative data software (Dedoose).

In addition, we requested relevant strategy documents or action plans directly from the case studies for analysis.

We also reviewed existing evidence on race equality, diversity and inclusion in the workplace in order to put our findings into context.

















Appendix 2: The nine Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) indicators*

Workforce indicators (comparing the data for white and ethnic minority staff):

- Percentage of staff in each of the NHS Agenda for Change bands 1-9 or medical and dental subgroups and very senior managers (including executive board members) compared with the percentage of staff in the overall workforce disaggregated, if appropriate, by:
 - non-clinical staff
 - clinical staff, of which non-medical staff and medical and dental staff.
- 2. Relative likelihood of staff being appointed from shortlisting across all posts.
- 3. Relative likelihood of staff entering the formal disciplinary process, as measured by entry into a formal disciplinary investigation.
- 4. Relative likelihood of staff accessing non-mandatory training and continuous professional development.

NHS Staff Survey indicators, or equivalent (comparing the outcomes of the responses for white and ethnic minority staff):

- 5. Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public in last 12 months.
- 6. Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in last 12 months.

^{*} Since 2018. The focus and wording of the indicators have been subject to extensive engagement since 2014.



















- 7. Percentage believing that trust provides equal opportunities for career progression or promotion.
- **8.** In the last 12 months have you personally experienced discrimination at work from a manager, team leader or other colleagues?

Board representation indicator (comparing the difference for white and ethnic minority staff):

- **9.** Percentage difference between the organisation's board membership and its overall workforce, disaggregated by:
 - · voting membership of the board
 - executive membership of the board.

Source: NHS England (2018a).



















Appendix 3: Getting our own house in order

The King's Fund is committed to becoming a more diverse and inclusive organisation. We want to be able to talk about equality, diversity and inclusion in health and care, openly and confidently. To do this credibly, we need to challenge ourselves (or, as a stakeholder more frankly pointed out, 'The King's Fund needs to get its own house in order' on equality and diversity) and learn from our own experiences, as well as those of others.

What are we doing?

To improve our gender and ethnic diversity, we are developing a diversity and inclusion work programme, which includes:

- ensuring our recruitment and selection practices attract more diverse applications and reduce bias
- increasing the depth of staff understanding of diversity and inclusion issues through learning and development and open conversations to help us value difference
- creating intern roles targeted at people from under-represented groups
- setting targets, first on gender and ethnicity, aimed at increasing the diversity of our senior decision-makers, spokespeople and event speakers
- reflecting transparently on our progress and learning and feeding this back to the board of trustees, who are accountable, with our senior management team, for this progress
- ensuring that our building and resources are accessible to all
- piloting a diversity mentoring scheme to deepen understanding of diversity and inclusion issues among our senior leaders, which took place during 2019.



















We hope this information will be taken in the spirit of sharing, not preaching. We recognise we have some issues and dilemmas in common with health and care, which we are trying to address (see www.kingsfund.org.uk/about-us/who-we-are/diversity-and-inclusion; Hills 2019; Nguyen 2019). We hope to engage health and care providers on this critical issue from a place of understanding.

















References

Atewologun D, Cornish T, Tresh F (2018). *Unconscious bias training: an assessment of the evidence for effectiveness* [online]. Equality and Human Rights Commission website. Available at: www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/unconscious-bias-training-assessment-evidence-effectiveness (accessed on 7 April 2020).

Atewologun D, Kline R, Ochieng M (2019). Fair to refer? Reducing disproportionality in fitness to practise concerns reported to the GMC [online]. General Medical Council website. Available at: www.gmc-uk.org/about/what-we-do-and-why/data-and-research/research-and-insight-archive/fair-to-refer (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Beech J, Bottery S, Charlesworth A, Evans H, Gershlick B, Hemmings N, Imison C, Kahtan P, McKenna H, Murray R, Palmer B (2019). *Closing the gap: key areas for action on the health and care workforce* [online]. The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/closing-gap-health-care-workforce (accessed on 21 April 2020).

Bolden R, Adelaine A, Warren S, Gulati A, Conley H, Jarvis C (2019). *Inclusion: the DNA of leadership and change: a review of theory, evidence and practice on leadership, equality, diversity and inclusion in the National Health Service* [online]. UWE Bristol Research Repository website. Available at: https://uwe-repository.worktribe.com/output/852067/inclusion-the-dna-of-leadership-and-change (accessed on 4 May 2020).

Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust (undated). 'Our workforce information'. Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust website. Available at: www.bdct.nhs.uk/about-us/key-information/equality-and-diversity/our-workforce-information (accessed on 1 May 2020).

Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust (undated). 'Equality and diversity at CHFT'. Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust website. Available at: www.cht.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity-at-chft (accessed on 1 May 2020).

Carlson J, Leek C, Casey E, Tolman R, Allen C (2019). 'What's in a name? A synthesis of "allyship" elements from academic and activist literature'. *Journal of Family Violence*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00073-z (accessed on 27 March 2020).

Coghill Y (2020). "Our NHS people matter" – five years of the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). Blog. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/02/five-years-workforce-race-equality-standard-wres (accessed on 27 February 2020).



















Darling C, WRES Implementation Team (2017). Workforce race equality: case studies of good practice from non-NHS employers [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/workforce-race-equality-case-studies-of-good-practice-from-non-nhs-employers (accessed on 28 April 2020).

Dawson J (2018). Links between NHS staff experience and patient satisfaction: analysis of surveys from 2014 and 2015 [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/links-between-nhs-staff-experience-and-patient-satisfaction-analysis-of-surveys-from-2014-and-2015 (accessed on 28 April 2020).

Dawson J, Sampson F, Rimmer M, Buckley Woods H, West M, Nadeem S (2019). *Evaluation of the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)* [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/evaluation-of-the-nhs-workforce-race-equality-standard-wres (accessed on 6 February 2020).

Department of Health and Social Care (2015). 'The NHS Constitution for England'. GOV.UK website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/ the-nhs-constitution-for-england (accessed on 23 March 2020).

East London NHS Foundation Trust (2018). 'QI project story: improving the disciplinary process at ELFT'. East London NHS Foundation Trust website. Available at: https://qi.elft.nhs.uk/qi-project-story-reducing-the-time-of-disciplinary-processes (accessed on 1 May 2020).

Edmondson A (1999). 'Psychological safety and learning behavior in work teams'. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, vol 44, no 2, pp 350–83.

Fuchs B (2019). 'Talking leadership: Ben Fuchs on "advantage blindness". The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/talking-leadership-advantage-blindness (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Health Education England (2020). 'Health Education England announces new chief executive as Dr Navina Evans'. Press release, 26 March. Available at: www.hee.nhs.uk/news-blogs-events/news/health-education-england-announces-new-chief-executive-dr-navina-evans (accessed on 1 May 2020).

Hills S (2019). 'Capable of leading for diversity?' Blog. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2019/07/leading-diversity (accessed on 11 February 2020).

Hughes J, McNaught A, Pennell I (1984). *Race and employment in the NHS*. London: King Edward's Hospital Fund for London.

Institute of Race Relations (undated). 'Definitions'. Institute of Race Relations website. Available at: www.irr.org.uk/research/statistics/definitions (accessed on 23 March 2020).















8



Kline R (2014). The snowy white peaks of the NHS: a survey of discrimination in governance and leadership and the potential impact on patient care in London and England [online]. Middlesex University website. Available at: http://eprints.mdx.ac.uk/13201 (accessed on 28 April 2020).

Kline R (2013). Discrimination by appointment: how black and minority ethnic applicants are disadvantaged in NHS staff recruitment [online]. Public World website. Available at: www.publicworld.org/pubs (accessed on 28 April 2020).

McGregor-Smith R (2017). *Race in the workplace: the McGregor-Smith review* [online]. GOV.UK website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/race-in-the-workplace-the-mcgregor-smith-review (accessed on 28 April 2020).

National Guardian's Office (2019). *National guidelines on Freedom to Speak Up training in the health sector in England* [online]. National Guardian website. Available at: www.nationalguardian. org.uk/speaking-up-data (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Nguyen H-A (2019). 'Do you work for a racist organisation?' Blog. Available at: www.kingsfund. org.uk/blog/2019/06/do-you-work-racist-organisation (accessed on 11 February 2020).

NHS England (2020a). 'NHS England chief pledges "head office" will match diversity of health service'. Press release, 5 March. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/2020/03/nhs-chief-pledges-hq-will-match-diversity-of-health-service (accessed on 1 May 2020).

NHS England (2020b). NHS Staff Survey 2019: National results briefing. Available at: https://www.nhsstaffsurveys.com/Page/1085/Latest-Results/NHS-Staff-Survey-Results/(accessed on 25 June 2020).

NHS England (2019a). Sharing good practice: London HRD Network in collaboration with NHS trusts across the London region [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/sharing-good-practice-london-hrd-network-in-collaboration-with-nhs-trusts-across-the-london-region (accessed on 6 February 2020).

NHS England (2019b). Sharing good practice: Mersey Care NHS Foundation Trust [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/sharing-good-practice-mersey-care-nhs-foundation-trust (accessed on 6 February 2020).

NHS England (2019c). The NHS long term plan [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan (accessed on 31 January 2020).

NHS England (2018a). Frequently asked questions on the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/frequently-asked-questions-wres (accessed on 22 January 2020).



















NHS England (2018b). *Improving through inclusion: supporting staff networks for black and minority ethnic staff in the NHS: part two* [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/improving-through-inclusion-supporting-staff-networks-for-black-and-minority-ethnic-staff-in-the-nhs (accessed on 28 April 2020).

NHS England (2017). Improving through inclusion: supporting staff networks for black and minority ethnic staff in the NHS [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/improving-through-inclusion-supporting-staff-networks-for-black-and-minority-ethnic-staff-in-the-nhs (accessed on 28 April 2020).

NHS England (undated). 'Equality Delivery System'. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/eds (accessed on 23 March 2020).

NHS England, NHS Improvement (2019). A model employer: increasing black and ethnic minority representation at senior levels across the NHS [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/a-model-employer (accessed on 28 April 2020).

NHS Equality and Diversity Council (2019a). *Equality and Diversity Council: narrative and terms of reference* [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/equality-and-diversity-council-narrative-tor (accessed on 6 April 2020).

NHS Equality and Diversity Council (2019b). Workforce Race Equality Standard: 2018 WRES data analysis report for eight national healthcare organisations [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/2018-wres-data-analysis-report-for-eight-national-healthcare-organisations (accessed on 6 February 2020).

NHS Improvement (2019). *Interim NHS people plan*. London: NHS Improvement. Available at: https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/interim-nhs-people-plan (accessed on 29 April 2020).

NHS Improvement (2016a). Developing People – Improving Care: A national framework for action on improvement and leadership development in NHS-funded services [online]. NHS Improvement website. Available at: https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/developing-people-improving-care (accessed on 27 February 2020).

NHS Improvement (2016b). East London NHS Foundation Trust: one trust's experience of the culture programme [online]. NHS Improvement website. Available at: https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/east-london-nhs-foundation-trust-one-trusts-experience-culture-programme (accessed on 6 April 2020).

Pendleton J (2017). 'The experiences of black and minority ethnic nurses working in the UK'. British Journal of Nursing, vol 26, no 1, pp 37–42.

Priest N, Esmail A, Kline R, Rao M, Coghill Y, Williams DR (2015). 'Promoting equality for ethnic minority NHS staff – what works?' *British Medical Journal*, vol 351, no 8019, pp 16–18.



















Race Disparity Unit (2019). Ethnic diversity of public sector workforces [online]. GOV.UK website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/ethnic-diversity-of-public-sector-workforces/ethnic-diversity-of-public-sector-workforces (accessed on 23 January 2020).

Race Disparity Unit (undated). 'List of ethnic groups'. GOV.UK website. Available at: www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/ethnic-groups (accessed on 23 March 2020).

Ross S, Naylor C (2017). *Quality improvement in mental health* [online]. The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/quality-improvement-mental-health (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Saeed A, Rae E, Neil R, Connell-Hall V, Munro F (2019). 'To BAME or not to BAME: the problem with racial terminology in the civil service'. *Civil Service World*, 4 October. Available at: www.civilserviceworld.com/articles/opinion/bame-or-not-bame-problem-racial-terminology-civil-service (accessed on 23 March 2020).

Schlepper L, Appleby J (2018). 'The gender pay gap in the English NHS: how does it vary by ethnicity?' Blog. Available at: www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/news-item/the-gender-pay-gap-in-the-english-nhs-how-does-it-vary-by-ethnicity (accessed on 28 April 2020).

Sherbin L, Rashid R (2017). 'Diversity doesn't stick without inclusion'. *Harvard Business Review*, 1 February. Available at: https://hbr.org/2017/02/diversity-doesnt-stick-without-inclusion (accessed on 27 February 2020).

Somerville C (2015). Unhealthy attitudes: the treatment of LGBT people within health and social care settings. London: Stonewall. Available at: www.stonewall.org.uk/our-work/campaigns/unhealthy-attitudes (accessed on 29 April 2020).

Stevenson J, Rao M (2014). Explaining levels of wellbeing in BME populations in England [online]. University of East London website. Available at: https://repository.uel.ac.uk/item/85967 (accessed on 28 April 2020).

The King's Fund (undated). 'Targets and performance management'. The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/reforming-nhs-within/targets-and-performance-management (accessed on 22 April 2020).

The Synergi Collaborative Centre (2018). The impact of racism on mental health [online]. The Synergi Collaborative Centre website. Available at: https://synergicollaborativecentre.co.uk/briefing-papers (accessed on 23 March 2020).

Warmington J (2018). NHS workforce race equality: a case for diverse boards [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-workforce-race-equality-a-case-for-diverse-board (accessed on 28 April 2020).



















West M (2020). 'What does the 2019 NHS Staff Survey truly tell us about how staff needs are being met?' Blog. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/02/2019-nhs-staff-survey-are-staff-needs-being-met (accessed on 27 February 2020).

West M, Dawson J, Admasachew L, Topakas A (2011). NHS staff management and health service quality [online]. GOV.UK website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-staff-management-and-health-service-quality (accessed on 23 January 2020).

West M, Kaur M, Dawson J (2015). *Making the difference: diversity and inclusion in the NHS* [online]. The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/making-difference-diversity-inclusion-nhs (accessed on 28 April 2020).

West M, Steward K, Eckert R, Pasmore B (2014). *Developing collective leadership for health care* [online]. The King's Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/developing-collective-leadership-health-care (accessed on 28 April 2020).

Williams DR (1999). 'Race, socioeconomic status, and health: the added effects of racism and discrimination'. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol 896, pp 173–88.

Williams DR, Mohammed S (2013). 'Racism and health I: pathways and scientific evidence'. *American Behavioral Scientist*, vol 57, no 8, pp 1152–73.

WRES Implementation Team (2020). NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard: 2019 data analysis report for NHS trusts [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/workforce-race-equality-standard-data-reporting-2019 (accessed on 27 February 2020).

WRES Implementation Team (2019). NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard: 2018 data analysis report for NHS trusts [online]. NHS England website. Available at: www.england.nhs.uk/publication/workforce-race-equality-standard-data-reporting-december-2018 (accessed on 23 January 2020).

















Acknowledgements

First and foremost, we would like to thank everyone who we interviewed during our research at Bradford District Care NHS Foundation Trust, Calderdale and Huddersfield NHS Foundation Trust and East London NHS Foundation Trust. We were humbled to hear about your experiences. Thanks in particular to Sandra Knight, Nicola Hosty and Tanya Carter respectively for your support with co-ordinating interviews.

Thanks also to members of the external advisory group, including:

- Dr Chris Odedun
- Dr Habib Naqvi
- Ish Narotra
- Professor Laura Serrant
- Professor Michael West
- Dr Nav Chana
- Steven Ned
- Dr Taj Hassan.

We would like to thank Paul Deemer (head of diversity and inclusion at NHS Employers) and Eden Charles (founder and chief executive of People Opportunities) for their reviews of this report.

And last, but by no means least, at The King's Fund, we would like to thank Siva Anandaciva, Suzie Bailey, Ben Fuchs, Lynsey Hawker, Sarah Murphy, Richard Murray, David Naylor, Megan Price, Patrick South, Jen Thorley, Sally Warren and Ros West for their support with the research.

Acknowledgements 83



















About the authors

Shilpa Ross is a senior researcher in the policy team at The King's Fund and works on a range of health and social care research programmes. Topics of her recent reports for the Fund include the role of volunteers in the NHS, innovative models of general practice, transformational change in health and care, and quality improvement in mental health. Before joining the Fund in 2009, Shilpa's research focused on the resettlement of offenders and substance misuse treatment. She has extensive experience in qualitative research with practitioners, service users and policy-makers. Shilpa holds a BSc in psychology and criminology.

Joni Jabbal is a researcher in the policy team at The King's Fund and contributes to the Fund's research and analysis on health and social care policy and practice. Her recent work includes projects on workforce planning, patient experience, financial failure in the NHS, as well as a major audit of the NHS under the coalition government. Working with other colleagues in the policy directorate, Joni has been responsible for work tracking the performance of the health and social care system through the Fund's *Quarterly monitoring report*. Joni has a particular interest in incentives and behavioural outcomes in health care settings. Before joining the Fund in 2013, Joni worked at the Royal College of Physicians, focusing on the impact of the NHS reforms, developing new models of urgent and emergency care services, and leading the college's public health work. She has an MSc in comparative social policy from the University of Oxford.

Kiran Chauhan is a senior consultant in the leadership and organisational development team at The King's Fund and delivers development programmes and organisational development support to a range of clients across the NHS. Before joining the Fund, he spent 15 years working in the health sector, both as a strategy consultant and in a variety of operational and strategic NHS roles. Latterly, this focused on leadership and governance policy, talent management, and increasing the professional diversity of board-level teams. Kiran also holds a visiting lectureship at the University of Hertfordshire where he supervises doctoral students exploring group dynamics and critical perspectives on organisational life. His own research interests include the social production of expertise, and shame and ethics in organisational development practice, drawing on concepts from pragmatist philosophy, practice theory and group analysis.

About the authors 84

















David Maguire is a senior analyst in the policy team at The King's Fund and is responsible for the analysis of quantitative data using a range of methods, across topics including workforce, primary care, inequalities, productivity, social care and digital technology. Before joining the Fund, David worked at the South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust in Northern Ireland where he supported managers to make their services more financially sustainable. He has an MA in health economics from the University of York and previous experience in the commissioning sector in Northern Ireland.

Mandip Randhawa is a senior consultant in the leadership and organisational development team at The King's Fund, which she joined in 2013. Mandip consults to a number of the Fund's open programmes, drawing on system psychodynamic principles to support and develop teams, organisations and systems. Between 2016 and 2017, Mandip was seconded to Birmingham Women's and Children's Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as an organisational development consultant. Mandip is passionate about diversity, inclusion and fair representation in the NHS workforce and has written about this issue for the Fund. Mandip studied law at Lancaster University, has trained as a facilitator with the Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development and has a certificate in counselling and psychotherapy skills from Westminster Pastoral Foundation. She is also trained in numerous psychometric tools used to support development as well as being a trained action learning set facilitator and an executive coach.

Siham Dahir interned in the Policy team from February to November 2019. Her interests are public health, community engagement and public policy.

About the authors 85



















Published by

The King's Fund 11–13 Cavendish Square London W1G 0AN Tel: 020 7307 2568 Fax: 020 7307 2801

Email: publications@kingsfund.org.uk

www.kingsfund.org.uk

© The King's Fund 2020

First published 2020 by The King's Fund

Charity registration number: 1126980

All rights reserved, including the right of reproduction in whole or in part in any form

ISBN: 978 1 909029 98 9

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library Edited by Rowena Mayhew

Typeset by Grasshopper Design Company, www.grasshopperdesign.net

Printed in the UK by The King's Fund

The King's Fund is an independent charity working to improve health and care in England. We help to shape policy and practice through research and analysis; develop individuals, teams and organisations; promote understanding of the health and social care system; and bring people together to learn, share knowledge and debate. Our vision is that the best possible health and care is available to all.

The Kings Fund Ideas that change health care

The NHS has one of the most ethnically diverse workforces in the public sector. However, year after year, ethnic minority staff report worse experiences in terms of their lives and careers, when compared with white staff.

Addressing race inequalities in the NHS workforce is critical. The impact of discrimination on people can be profound. The fair treatment of staff is also linked to better patient experience and would play an important role in addressing the workforce crisis the service is currently experiencing.

Workforce race inequalities and inclusion in NHS providers draws together findings from three case study sites that have sought to address workforce race inequalities and develop positive and inclusive requirements, focusing on the personal accounts and recollections of members of staff.

The report highlights the importance of key interventions, including:

- establishing staff networks, which can lead to meaningful changes for individuals and organisations
- ensuring psychologically safe routes for raising concerns so that staff feel able to share their experiences and raise issues
- enabling staff development and career progression to support staff and address historic imbalances.

However, the report concludes that there are no magic solutions to an age-old issue. Approaches to race inequality require individuals and organisations to make a concerted effort over time, in order to make a difference for the current and future NHS workforce.

The King's Fund 11–13 Cavendish Square London W1G OAN Tel: 020 7307 2568

Charity registration number: 1126980

9 781909 029989 >

ISBN 978-1-909029-98-9